
   
 

 
 

Community Advisory Committee Meeting 
Monday, March 18, 2024 

6:00 pm 
 

In Person: 
The Lake Merritt Room 

Cal State East Bay - the Oakland Center 
In the Transpacific Centre 
1000 Broadway, Suite 109 

Oakland, CA 94607 
 

Or from the following remote locations: 
4563 Meyer Park Circle, Fremont, CA 94536 

3602 Thornton Ave. Fremont, CA 94536 
Castro Valley Starbucks: 2720 Castro Valley Blvd. Castro Valley, CA 94546 

Starbucks at 1857 11th St. Tracy, CA 95376  
500 metros Este del Canopy, Calle, Montezuma-Delicias Rd, Provincia de 

Puntarenas, Montezuma, 60111, Costa Rica 
 

Via Zoom: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84794506189 

 

Or join by phone: 

    Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): 

        US: +1 669 900 6833 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 253 215 8782 or +1 929 

205 6099 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 626 6799 or 877 853 5257 (Toll Free) 

    Webinar ID: 847 9450 6189 

 
Meetings are accessible to people with disabilities. Individuals who need special 
assistance or a disability-related modification or accommodation to participate in 
this meeting, or who have a disability and wish to request an alternative format 
for the meeting materials, should contact the Clerk of the Board at least 2 working 
days before the meeting at (510) 906-0491 or cob@avaenergy.org.  

If you have anything that you wish to be distributed to the Committee, please 
email it to the clerk by 5:00 pm the day prior to the meeting. 

 
C1. Welcome & Roll Call  
 

https://www.google.com/url?q=https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84794506189&sa=D&source=calendar&ust=1613331251095000&usg=AOvVaw0ZBdFaiVkerlvwrBTiSQL9
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84794506189&sa=D&source=calendar&ust=1613331251095000&usg=AOvVaw0ZBdFaiVkerlvwrBTiSQL9
mailto:cob@avaenergy.org


Ava Community Energy                        

Community Advisory Committee                             Page | 2 

 

   
 

C2. Public Comment 
This item is reserved for persons wishing to address the Committee on any Ava 
Community Energy-related matters that are not otherwise on this meeting 
agenda. Public comments on matters listed on the agenda shall be heard at the 
time the matter is called. As with all public comment, members of the public who 
wish to address the Committee are customarily limited to three minutes per 
speaker and must complete an electronic speaker slip. The Committee Chair may 
increase or decrease the time allotted to each speaker. 

 
C3. Approval of Minutes from February 20, 2024 
 

C4. CAC Chair Report 
 

C5. Ava Resilience Hubs Definition Discussion (CAC Informational Item) 
Survey results and feedback on definition, use cases and potential sites for 
Resilience Hubs 
 

C6. CAC Appointments (CAC Action Item) 
Appointment of new CAC Members and Alternates 
 

C7. Legislative Update (CAC Informational Item) 
Informational update on the state bills Ava has been tracking this year 
 

C8. Load Management Standards (LMS) Compliance Plan (CAC Action Item) 
Compliance item for the CEC’s Load Management Standards 

 
C9. Default Product Change Policy Update (CAC Action Item) 

Updates to the policy 
 
C10. Term Assignments (CAC Action Item) 

 
C11. CAC Member and Staff Announcements including requests to place items 

on future CAC agendas 
 
C12. Adjourn 

 
The next Community Advisory Committee meeting will be held on Monday, April 
15, 2024 at 6:00 pm. 

 
The Lake Merritt Room 
Cal State East Bay - the Oakland Center 
In the Transpacific Centre 
1000 Broadway, Suite 109 
Oakland, CA 94607 

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSfuwXhnJkDvrIZMuHpL-1P3H23ofjY72GpWBcWMY_smFN4lZA/viewform?usp=sf_link


   
 

 
Draft Minutes 

Community Advisory Committee Meeting 
Tuesday, February 20, 2024 

6:00 pm 
 

In Person: 
The Lake Merritt Room 

Cal State East Bay - the Oakland Center 
In the Transpacific Centre 
1000 Broadway, Suite 109 

Oakland, CA 94607 
 

Or from the following remote locations: 
4563 Meyer Park Circle, Fremont, CA 94536 

3602 Thornton Ave. Fremont, CA 94536 
Castro Valley Starbucks: 2720 Castro Valley Blvd. Castro Valley, CA 94546 

Starbucks at 1857 11th St. Tracy, CA 95376  
500 metros Este del Canopy, Calle, Montezuma-Delicias Rd, Provincia de 

Puntarenas, Montezuma, 60111, Costa Rica 
 

Via Zoom: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84794506189 

 

Or join by phone: 

    Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): 

        US: +1 669 900 6833 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 253 215 8782 or +1 929 

205 6099 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 626 6799 or 877 853 5257 (Toll Free) 

    Webinar ID: 847 9450 6189 

 
Meetings are accessible to people with disabilities. Individuals who need special 
assistance or a disability-related modification or accommodation to participate in 
this meeting, or who have a disability and wish to request an alternative format 
for the meeting materials, should contact the Clerk of the Board at least 2 working 
days before the meeting at (510) 906-0491 or cob@avaenergy.org.  

If you have anything that you wish to be distributed to the Committee, please 
email it to the clerk by 5:00 pm the day prior to the meeting. 

 
C1. Welcome & Roll Call  

https://www.google.com/url?q=https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84794506189&sa=D&source=calendar&ust=1613331251095000&usg=AOvVaw0ZBdFaiVkerlvwrBTiSQL9
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84794506189&sa=D&source=calendar&ust=1613331251095000&usg=AOvVaw0ZBdFaiVkerlvwrBTiSQL9
mailto:cob@avaenergy.org


Ava Community Energy                        

Community Advisory Committee                             Page | 2 

 

   
 

Present: Members: Landry, Swaminathan, Lakshman, Souza, Kaur, Lutz, Vice-
Chair Hernandez and Chair Eldred 
 
Not Present: Members Hu and Pacheco 
 

C2. (2:13) Public Comment 
This item is reserved for persons wishing to address the Committee on any Ava 
Community Energy-related matters that are not otherwise on this meeting 
agenda. Public comments on matters listed on the agenda shall be heard at the 
time the matter is called. As with all public comment, members of the public who 
wish to address the Committee are customarily limited to three minutes per 
speaker and must complete an electronic speaker slip. The Committee Chair may 
increase or decrease the time allotted to each speaker. 

 
There were no speakers for public comment. 
 

C3. (3:23) Approval of Minutes from January 16, 2024 
 

Member Lutz stated that his name appears in minutes as both present and not 
present.  Member Lutz was not present for the January 16, 2024 meeting. 
 
Member Landry motioned to approve the minutes pending the correction to 
Member Lutz’s attendance. Member Souza seconded the motion which was 
approved 7/0/2/1: 
Yes: Members Landry, Swaminathan, Lakshman, Kaur, Souza, Vice-Chair 
Hernandez and Chair Eldred 
Not Present: Members Hu and Pacheco 
Abstain: Member Lutz 

 
C4. (5:27) CAC Chair Report 

 
Chair Eldred announced that this would be her last meeting as chair. 
 
Chair Eldred provided the following updates from the January 17, 2024 Board of 
Director’s meeting:  
 

• The Board of Directors approved the Fiscal Year Budget Surplus  
Allocation to working capital and reserve funds, with specific portions 
designated for customer credits and community resilience initiatives. 

• The Board of Directors approved the Workforce and Environmental 
Justice Project Selection Criteria with a slight correction to the language 
around local hiring preferences to guarantee hiring diversity. 

• The Board of Directors approved five Long-Term Contracts, including the 
Ignis Wind Farm Project in Mexico.  The Ignis Wind Farm Project was 

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSfuwXhnJkDvrIZMuHpL-1P3H23ofjY72GpWBcWMY_smFN4lZA/viewform?usp=sf_link


Ava Community Energy                        

Community Advisory Committee                             Page | 3 

 

   
 

approved with additional conditions to ensure that Ava would have the 
right to terminate the contract if the Board determines that labor standards 
are not being met. 
 

Members thanked Chair Eldred for her leadership and contributions to the CAC 
and broader community. 
 

C5. (17:30) Selection of Chair and Vice-Chair, and Term Assignments (CAC 
Action Item) 

 
Chair Eldred motioned to appoint Vice-Chair Hernandez as Chair and 
Member Souza as Vice-Chair.  Member Landry seconded the motion which 
passed 8/0/2: 
Yes: Members Landry, Swaminathan, Lakshman, Kaur, Lutz, Souza, Vice-
Chair Hernandez and Chair Eldred 
Not Present: Members Hu and Pacheco. 
 
Member Eldred passed the gavel to Chair Hernandez. 
 

C6. (26:46) Resilience Hubs (CAC Informational Item) 
Informational update about resilience hubs 
 
JP Ross, Vice President, Local Development, Electrification and Innovation, 
provided an update on Ava's plans to support the development of resilience 
hubs. The program aims to utilize the 2023 budget surplus to fund the 
development of hubs, with a focus on supporting community-based initiatives 
through grants, technical assistance, and solar + storage incentive programs. 
Community Innovation Grants, amounting to $300,000 over three years, will be 
issued to work with community-based organizations to define and identify 
potential resilience hub sites. A technical assistance program will support sites 
with design, bid reviews, and grant writing for federal and state funding 
opportunities. 
 
(36:19) Member Lutz asked if the solar and storage incentive was exclusively for 
resilience hubs and about the relationship between technical assistance and 
community grant periods. JP Ross responded that the incentive program is 
available for resilience hubs, and that technical assistance is intended to start 
simultaneously with the community grants. 
 
(37:27) Vice-Chair Souza asked if resilience hubs would primarily focus on 
commercial or residential sectors. JP Ross responded that resilience hubs are 
expected to be more aligned with community-based or non-profit initiatives rather 
than the commercial or private sectors. 
 



Ava Community Energy                        

Community Advisory Committee                             Page | 4 

 

   
 

(39:36) Public Comment: Bradley Cleveland spoke in approval of the program 
and asked about the number of projects that could be funded with the allocated 
$40 million budget, the expected size of the resilience hubs, and the timeframe 
for the rollout of the program. JP Ross responded that grant and technical 
assistance proposals are expected to be issued in March, with the incentive 
program aiming for approval in April and rollout in the second half of the year. 
 
(46:11) Vice-Chair Souza asked about the potential for using electric car 
batteries as an energy resource during off-peak hours. JP Ross responded that 
there are technical and regulatory constraints currently preventing the 
widespread use of car batteries as part of resilience efforts. 
 
(49:05) Chair Hernandez asked if Ava is considering various storage 
technologies, such as lithium-ion and iron phosphate. JP Ross confirmed that 
they are evaluating the technologies proposed for resilience programs, with 
technical assistance aimed at offering guidance and ensuring that only viable and 
safe options are considered. 
 
(50:36) Public Comment: Audrey Ichinose asked about the reporting 
requirements that will be expected from the selected community-based 
organizations for the grant. 
 
(51:56) Jessica Tovar, representing the East Bay Clean Power Alliance, asked 
about the timeline for providing feedback on this initiative. She also suggested 
that the grant selection process should involve members from the Community 
Advisory Committee.  
 
(55:19) Cris Manickam-Shirley asked if Ava's has leveraged either PG&E's 
Community Microgrid Enablement program or its incentive programs in its 
resilience hubs strategy. He spoke about the incentive program's benefits, 
including technical support and financial assistance for equipment. 
 
(1:01:06) Member Lutz asked if the program was limited to net metering and if 
additional incentives would be provided to encourage the generation of surplus 
energy. JP Ross responded that the program uses net metering for its flexibility 
in energy utilization but he is not planning to incentivize production due to cost 
concerns.  
 
(1:05:01) Chair Hernandez asked about the funding levels for community 
grants, technical assistance and storage initiatives. JP Ross confirmed that 
community grants and technical assistance were already approved, with the 
allocation of the surplus to be finalized by the end of the fiscal year in June. 
 
(1:06:59) Jessica Tovar asked about the timeline for providing feedback on 
solicitation related to the $300,000 grant. JP Ross responded that there is no 



Ava Community Energy                        

Community Advisory Committee                             Page | 5 

 

   
 

specific date set for feedback yet as they are currently collecting input from the 
community and the CAC. 
 

C7. (1:08:51) Long-Term Contracts for Approval (CAC Action Item) 
Requesting Intersect Easley PPA Approval 
 
Karen Lee, the power resources manager, outlined Ava's process of soliciting 
long-term clean energy resources initiated in April 2023, with the goal to enhance 
energy hedging, provide resource adequacy, and secure environmental 
attributes.  
 
The proposal involved contracting with Intersect Power for a 150 MW capacity 
from the Easley Solar Project located in Riverside County, California, under a 10-
year term.  This would diversify Ava’s portfolio and comply with CPUC's midterm 
reliability requirement. The project emphasizes union labor, prevailing wage, and 
meeting environmental standards through a special permitting process. 
 
(1:35:05) Member Swaminathan asked about the reasoning behind choosing a 
10-year term for new energy contracts.  Karen responded that the 10-year 
duration meets the minimum requirement set by the California Public Utilities 
Commission for long-term contracts under the midterm reliability requirement. 
She explained that while typically longer contracts might offer lower prices, Ava 
Community Energy opts for a range of contract lengths to diversify its portfolio. 
 
(1:38:39) Member Souza asked about the reporting on the local hiring numbers 
associated with the Intersect Power project.  Karen Lee clarified that while the 
project is based in Riverside County and not within the immediate local area of 
Ava Community Energy's service territory, efforts would be made to involve local 
businesses and workforce within the project vicinity. 
 
(1:51:15) Public Comment: Steve Scala asked about the transmission capacity 
of CA ISO to deliver power from the Riverside project to Ava’s service area.  
Karen Lee affirmed that the project would have deliverability without requiring 
additional upgrades to the grid. 
 
Member Lutz motioned to approve the staff recommendation.  Member 
Landry seconded the motion which passed 8/0/2: 
Yes: Members Landry, Eldred, Swaminathan, Lakshman, Kaur, Lutz, Vice-
Chair Souza and Chair Hernandez 
Not Present: Member Hu and Pacheco 
 

C8. (1:55:08) Disadvantaged Communities - Green Tariff / Community Solar 
Green Tariff Power Purchase Agreement (CAC Action Item) 
DAC-GT/CSGT PPA approval 
 



Ava Community Energy                        

Community Advisory Committee                             Page | 6 

 

   
 

Eleanor Smith, Connected Communities Manager, and Shannon Rivers, 
Senior Manager, Virtual Power Plants, presented the Disadvantaged 
Communities Green Tariff (DAC-GT) and Community Solar Green Tariff (CSGT) 
programs and described how these programs will promote renewable energy 
development in disadvantaged communities.  
 
(2:05:58) Member Swaminathan asked for the reason for setting the goal of 5.7 
and 1.56 megawatts for the Disadvantaged Communities Green Tariff and 
Community Solar Green Tariff programs.  Eleanor Smith responded that the 
goal came from a CPUC directive and that the amounts were maximum for which 
cost recovery would be granted.. 
 
Member Lakshman left the meeting at 8:08pm. 
 
(2:09:36) Jessica Tovar asked about the reasons for challenges associated with 
the Community Solar Green Tariff program.  Eleanor Smith acknowledged 
challenges in receiving developer bids due to geographic and eligibility 
constraints, which, she stated, have been addressed in the current round. 
 
(2:13:13) Member Swaminathan asked if projects that are not selected for the 
DAC-GT/CSGT program could be integrated into resiliency center initiatives. 
Howard Chang stated that the selected DAC-GT/CSGT projects, due to being 
on private sector land and lacking public access, might not meet the criteria or 
offer the necessary community services to be considered for resiliency 
incentives. Howard said that while current DAC-GT/CSGT projects may not be 
suitable, further review of other projects could be considered for resilience 
purposes. 
 
(2:16:30) Jessica Tovar asked about the potential for community-based 
organizations (CBOs) to become sponsors in the Community Solar Green Tariff 
(CSGT) programs in the future. Eleanor Smith responded by acknowledging the 
possibility for CBOs to collaborate in enrolling customers in the CSGT program, 
although she noted that the Disadvantaged Communities Green Tariff (DAC-GT) 
program is already fully subscribed. 
 
Member Eldred motioned to approve staff’s recommendation.  Member Lutz 
seconded the motion which was approved 7/0/2: 
Yes: Members Landry, Eldred, Swaminathan, Kaur, Lutz, Vice-Chair Souza 
and Chair Hernandez 
Not Present: Members Hu, Lakshman and Pacheco 
 

C9. (2:19:34) CAC Member and Staff Announcements including requests to 
place items on future CAC agendas 
 



Ava Community Energy                        

Community Advisory Committee                             Page | 7 

 

   
 

• Cait Cady requested adding an item about assigning staggered terms for 
CAC members, in line with the Board's December, 2023 action. 

• Member Lutz requested to have a discussion about the best way for the 
CAC to provide advice to the Board.  He suggested that the CAC should 
provide guidance for the Board to consider before the Board provides 
direction to staff, and prior to when starts staff developing plans.  He 
stated that, currently, projects are driven by staff without the input from the 
Board or the CAC. 

• Member Lutz also requested to discuss the creation of a ramped timeline 
of targets to achieve 100% locally-sourced energy from within Ava’s 
service territory. 

 
C10. Adjourn at 8:35pm 

 
The next Community Advisory Committee meeting will be held on Monday, 
March 18, 2024 at 6:00 pm. 

 
The Lake Merritt Room 
Cal State East Bay - the Oakland Center 
In the Transpacific Centre 
1000 Broadway, Suite 109 
Oakland, CA 94607 



Resilience Hubs 
Discussion

March 18, 2024
Ava Community Advisory Committee



Resilience Hub 
Discussion



Resilience Hub Definition from Survey:



Resilience Hub Definition USDN:



Resilience Hub Services 

Emergency Services Count

Heating/Cooling 9

Charging Center/Communications 8

Food/Water Distribution 5

Clean Air/Air Filtration 4

Health Services 2

Electrification Support 2

Medicine storage/distribution 1

Community Garden 1

Disaster Response Information 1



Resilience Hub Facility types

Potential RH Facilities

Churches

Park/Community/Rec Centers*

Libraries*

Schools

MF affordable housing complexes

Homes

https://psehealthyenergy.shinyapps.io/climate_vulnerability_index/


Who Benefits



Barriers to Resilience Hub Development 
and Operation

•



•

•

•

•

•

•

Program to deliver Community 
Resilience Hubs

Community Grant(s) ($300k)

•

•

•

•

•

Technical Assistance ($2M)

•

•

▪

•

•

Solar + Storage Incentive

Issue RFPs in March, Initiate work in June/July April BOD Approval



Definition of Resilience Hubs Who do you serve?

Do you currently have a 

Resilience Hub (RH)?

What services do you 

currently provide?

What emergency services 

do you currently provide?

What non-energy 

resources do you need 

for your RH?

Do you have a site for a 

microgrid?

Would you like to 

organize towards getting 

a site for microgrid?

What other energy resources 

do you need?

Do you have ideal locations in the 

community you serve for 

microgrids?

East Oakland community 

members No

Monthly community 

meetings

Resilience supply 

distribution Not sure

Possibly, East Oakland Apt. 

complex, 100 Hegenberger 

(would need to organize with 

other tenents in the building)

Community spaces that can include buildings or faciliteis, 

community spaces, neighborhoods, or individual residences 

that support community members before, during, and after 

natural and climatic disasters. Resources can include, but 

are not limited to access to fresh food and clean water, 

hygenie facilities, community gardens, community 

transportation, renewable energy and energy back 

up//storage, community events including concerts, events, 

etc.

Low-income, BIPOC, high school 

youth ages 14 - 18 in impacted 

communities dealing with 

intersecting environmental and 

social injustices. no

Annual 6-week Introductory 

Summer Climate Justice 

Leadership Academy for 

Oakland and Contra Costa 

County youth; Advanced 

Level Schoolyear Fellowship 

for youth who have 

participated in our Summer 

Academy. none

Food + water, access to 

fresh produce including 

gardens, personal 

hygenie 

equipment/facilites; 

transportation, bike 

rentals, heating and 

cooling, community 

activities (games, 

tutoring, events, etc) no

no, but would be down to 

support campaigns for 

others and get youth 

invovled!

renewable energy, solar storage 

and battery backup

Tassaforanga Park; Oakland 81st 

Ave Library; Oakland Coliseum; 

DeFermery Park; Pinole Valley High 

School (just a brainstorm and places 

youth have mentioned)Ta

Place of refuge and source of essential supplies in face of 

any communuity disaster

Mostly Jewish-identified or allied 

folks of Alameda County and 

beyond.

No.  Although we do have 

a space used to 

temporarily house 

immigrants and refugees.

All services you might 

expect of a synagogue to its 

members as well as the 

refuge mentioned and a 

collection depot for items 

needed by homeless people 

in our area. Unclear at this time don't know

Membership based but also 

support frontline communities No

Climate, climate justice, and 

energy justice advocacy and 

support

The multi-family/multi-meter 

housing/energy community No

Policy advocacy (regulatory 

and legislative) and 

expertise to expand local 

renewable energy resources 

Working on our definition

East Oakland Community + 

Oakland, families, individuals 

housed and unhoused, BIPOC

Yes, 7800 MacArthur 

Blvd. 

Mutual Aid, Food and 

Supply distribution, 

Economic Empowerment, 

Wellness Resources

Mutual AId as we have 

ressources to distribute, 

Warm items and 

waterprroof items as well as 

water and food. 

Food, Supplies, Water, 

Tents. Tarps Yes potentially Unsure Unsure

Asian immigrant and refugee 

communities Yes

Lincoln Rec will eventually 

have back up power for 

frigeration, HVAC heating 

and cooling, access to hot 

water, overnight facilities, 

and community emergency 

response trainings in 

language

Public health info in 

language, age & culturally 

appropriate programs (in 

lanugage, for youth and 

seniors). opportunities to 

build expertise around 

governing clean energy, 

community planning Yes

Yes, but exploring more. Would like 

to include other community serving 

public and private institutions - 

OACC, AHS, as well as network of 

apartment buildings including land 

trust properties

I like APEN's definition: Trusted community spaces where 

community members can access services for disaster 

response and recovery, as well as “to gather, organize, and 

access resilience-building social services on a daily basis.” 

Rooted in the following pillars: ** Preparing vulnerable 

community members for extreme weather challenges: 

** Becoming a Model for Climate Solutions: Resilience hubs 

can directly address the Climate Crisis by prioritizing 

renewable energy, zero waste systems and other green 

building practices and programming  to showcase climate 

solutions.

** Building Trust and Relationships to Strengthen Community 

Cohesion:  With crime, racism, bullying and everything else 

related to our social systems unraveling on the rise, 

resilience hubs can serve as safe and inclusive places, with 

opportunities for community members to build and 

strengthen relationships.

Bay Area; online resources are 

for everyone. I worked in East 

Oakland for 8 months. Based in 

Berkeley. no

Serving as a "think tank" for 

resilient places - hubs, 

spaces & neighborhoods. 

Creating workshops to 

support the development of 

hubs. Helping to broaden the 

definition of resilience hubs -- 

how to support the smaller 

capacity sites, through 

funding and training. Also 

have a website which is 

collecting projects, cases 

studies & stories about r 

places. Consulting on 

helping to develop r rub. 

Focus on schools as 

resilience hubs (writing a 

report with StopWaste). n/a n/a

I know of lots of sites who 

could benefit from funding 

for a microgrid. maybe n/a n/a

A faith-based Resilience Hub is a House of Worship designed 

to help congregants and their neighborhoods prepare for and 

recover from climate disaster by providing safe hospitality, 

clean energy through solar panels and battery storage, clean 

air through air filtration, and so many other critical resources 

needed when disaster strikes. Power outages, wildfires, 

earthquakes, flooding, and so many of the terrible effects of 

climate change are here: we need to prepare ourselves, our 

loved ones, and our communities.

East Oakland residents around 

the RH

The Ethiopian Evangelical 

Church

Solar, Battery power, & air 

filtration, cool space 

Back up power, clean air, 

cool space

Spiritual resilience, 

community engament 

space 

USDN summary - Community-serving facilities and spaces 

where community members can access services for disaster 

response and recovery, as well as gather, organize, and 

access resilience-building social services on a daily basis.

Community based climate/EJ 

orgs, contractor groups, and 

health systems in the nine 

county region, focus on SF and 

East Bay

would like to connect with 

sites that are pursuing 

microgrids and hubs as 

many of our partners are 

intersted in providing 

funding, resources, 

support, etc.

Similar to USDN above but especially, before, during and 

after a crisis

EJ communities Hyper local (city 

level)), local/regional Alameda & 

San Joaquin Counties, Statewide We have a potential site

education and organizing to 

influence policies and 

programs towards resilience

advocacy to decision 

makers education on DIY supplies

potential multi-affordable 

family housing complex

yes, this is what's needed 

in order to get what we 

need

air filtration, coolling/warming 

centers housing complex



Definition of Resilience Hubs Who do you serve?

Do you currently have a 

Resilience Hub (RH)?

What services do you 

currently provide?

What emergency services 

do you currently provide?

What non-energy 

resources do you need 

for your RH?

Do you have a site for a 

microgrid?

Would you like to 

organize towards getting 

a site for microgrid?

What other energy resources 

do you need?

Do you have ideal locations in the 

community you serve for 

microgrids?

We support community-led definitions of hubs that serve their 

resiliency needs. Also, would like to see hubs that do the 

following: provide health information regarding climate, air 

and other pollution, benefits of electrification; include clean 

air during wild fire red-air quality days; cooling to protect 

residents from extreme heat which is the most deadly 

weather event; provide support for emergency water heater 

replacement and help to replace gas heaters with electric; 

and resources to help with an equitable transition to electrify 

homes, particularly to help families with asthma to replace 

their gas stove (which can trigger asthma) with an electric 

stove. Hubs can be so much more, but these are some areas 

we are most concerned with. Park community buildings and 

libraries could all be electrified and become resilency centers. 

And of course, we live in earthquake country and should think 

about how these hubs would help when the Big One hits.

Health professionals, advocates, 

students, and communities

No, but we are on 

advisory committee for 

the SF Bayview Hunters 

Point Climate Equity Hub, 

(not in AVA territory) 

which may consider a 

micro-grid in the 

neighborhood at some 

point in the future.

Health focused education 

and policy support: Health 

harms and benefits of 

building electrification and a 

just transition to 

electrification, including 

addressing health inequities 

often caused by policies 

such as redling, need for 

affordable electricity to 

protect health particularly 

during deadly heat waves, 

as well as policy advocacy 

on local and state levels, 

and for other nonprofits in 

BE movement. NA NA NA

We could support a 

project with health 

information.

While we exist for the mutual 

benefit of our Cooperative 

Members, our mission is to 

enable everyone to own and 

shape our energy future through 

our People Power Members.

Check out OakTREE 

which allows community 

members to have control 

of local heating and 

cooling in a form of a 

Thermal District Energy 

System (aka Thermal 

Technical viability of this 

Thermal Microgrid Battery Collective Yes Yes

union electricians and 

apprentices

We work with OUSD and pre-

apprenticeship programs on 

career paths Possibly

low-income, BIPOC, EJ 

communities, spanish-language 

speakers, youth No

A filtered air and cool shelter open during days of extreme 

heat, power loss and polluted air days. Including refrigeration 

to store medication, charging stations for wheelchairs and 

other medical devices, and phone chargers.  Residents of West Oakland No Electrified HVAC No maybe solar and batteries

Not ideal, but a possibility including 

all buildings in Preservation Park.

more discussion of resilience hubs, community solar and 

microgrids No

information from other CCAs 

in Bay Area and statewide re 

best practices, regional 

goals, technological 

innovations, regulatory and 

legislative initiatives

https://docs.google.com/document/u/4/d/1xzYSA5BXIS4sMhyFOpj6vKvSTHXNID3kMn0ag8x7rS8/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/u/4/d/1xzYSA5BXIS4sMhyFOpj6vKvSTHXNID3kMn0ag8x7rS8/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/u/4/d/1xzYSA5BXIS4sMhyFOpj6vKvSTHXNID3kMn0ag8x7rS8/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/u/4/d/1xzYSA5BXIS4sMhyFOpj6vKvSTHXNID3kMn0ag8x7rS8/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/u/4/d/1xzYSA5BXIS4sMhyFOpj6vKvSTHXNID3kMn0ag8x7rS8/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/u/4/d/1xzYSA5BXIS4sMhyFOpj6vKvSTHXNID3kMn0ag8x7rS8/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/u/4/d/1xzYSA5BXIS4sMhyFOpj6vKvSTHXNID3kMn0ag8x7rS8/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/u/4/d/1xzYSA5BXIS4sMhyFOpj6vKvSTHXNID3kMn0ag8x7rS8/edit


Response # Who utilizes a Resilience Hub?

How does a Resilience Hub serve the 

community? What services are offered?

How does a Resilience Hub serve the 

community during an emergency? 

What is the size of a Resilience Hub? What 

type of building would host a hub?

What are the barriers to creating Resilience Hubs? 

What does a community need?

What are the ideal 

locations for a 

Resilience Hub?

Do you currently know of 

locations for potential 

Resilience Hubs? If so, how 

many?

1 The public

medical services, immigration services, social 

services, food pantry, workshops, tiny home 

project, gathering space

warming shelter, cooling center, essential 

communication, resource distribution

ranges from churches to non profits to 

neighborhood groups

Capacity at the community organization level is a big 

barrier. There isn't enough leadership / capacity to 

devote time to this and/or people who have the 

expertise to immediately jump into a project without 

training and education.

Within DAC census 

tracts or proximity to 

one. Ideally would be 

accessible by transit. 

https://www.sanleandro.org

/1173/Hub-Sites-in-San-

Leandro

2

Members of the community - residents or 

visitors/commuters

Shelter, after earthquake; food distribution; place 

to charge EVs and power home (V2H); charge 

cell phones see above

community center, libraries, places of 

workship

Public and organizational awareness regarding the 

need for community resiliency centers, funding

see above, buildings 

with adequate 

restrooms, parking, 

centrally located, 

accessible

churches and temples in 

fremont; fremont 

community centers

3

Residents and Businesses in a geographic 

area.

A managed resilience hub can offer electrical 

power to utility customers who are not

necessarily near an environmental (ie. flood, fire. 

service breakdown) event. It breaks the

electrical grid down into more manageable 

divisions. In additional, it improves state security

in the event of a terrorist attack on the electric 

grid.

Electrical services can be accessed for a 

much larger area of population in the case of a

forced shutdown of electrical services. Today, 

if a fire threat occurs, hospitals, service

facilities, computer data centers, and other 

essential community building services can lose

important functionality during a stressful event.

This would be a calculation based on the 

possible generation for the geographic area, 

the

demand of the grid serviced, a score of what 

essential buildings are participating, and an

overall geographic look at reducing line loss 

(eg. remote areas that house fewer buildings.)

Infrastructure (batteries, distribution tech) and 

management, investment may be large,

- but

may eventually this may be offset with still being able to 

sell electrical services for longer,

less interrupted periods of time.

Areas of good 

renewable supply, 

areas of high 

community 

importance, and then 

everywhere

possible when the 

time comes.

To start, areas of high risk 

for fire.

4

Community members who require additional 

information on opportunities to obtain 

assistance or resources to be more resilient 

in their home and community; a place in 

case of an emergency and is communicated 

as a space to charge devices and get 

needed help.

It is a dedicated resource hub to assist and inform 

in person, where needed, to gather information 

and resources to be more resilient in the 

community; will be a place for learning in person 

and facilitating on-going concerns with access to 

clean energy and/or jobs that support this 

industry.

It is a place that is partnered with the City, 

County or other local government for 

resources from power banks, charging 

stations, warmth centers and other CBOs to 

assist at that time. 1500-2000 square feet.

Overhead, dedicated space, lease support and on-

going program management.

Walkable, Bikeable, 

BARTABLE and with 

parking and a reliable 

and safe place. 3-4

5 People from the local neighborhood.

It is a local community center where people 

gather for socializing and community gatherings. 

Services are available for people who need help 

with food, health, support navigating social 

services and general advice.

Provides emergency power for medical 

devices, phone charging, shared freezer and 

refrigeration space, and possibly portable 

batteries to run equipment at home. The 

space would also provide clean air during 

smoke emergencies.

It would be a local gathering place such as a 

church, an elementary school, a senior center, 

or a community center.

Technical advice on how to set up a microgrid and 

financing to build it out. see above I don't think so.

6

Resilience hubs should prioritize frontline 

communities and vulnerable populations, 

such as the unhoused, seniors and lower-

income individuals. That being said, often 

times community members who are aren't 

considered vulnerable often use the sites 

during the day-to-day programming (ie, 

when there is no disaster). For example, a 

church developed as a resilience hub might 

be used by church members who are not 

vulnerable, but during disasters other 

community members really needing support 

would likely use the site more.

Resilience hubs are simply trusted sites in the 

communities - from community centers to schools 

to places of worship - which are augmented to 

support community members during disasters. 

They also should be living learning laboratories 

for climate solutions -- with eco-friendly and 

climate resilient infrastructure and programming. 

They should also serve the community as a place 

where EVERYONE feels welcome, where people 

feel like they belong. They should be offering the 

typical services at the site, as well as 

programming and services that is resilience-

based. For example, a community center could 

offer food distribution, while a health clinic could 

offer workshops about extreme heat. They could 

also offer wellness workshops and programming, 

as well as disaster preparedness training 

workshops.  These services should be HOLISTIC 

and geared toward what community members 

want and need (in addition to the programming 

that the site already has, before becoming a 

resilience hub).

It really depends on the capacity of the site 

and the emergency itself, but here are a few 

ways they could serve the community: ** As a 

cooling or warming center during extreme 

weather (heat, cold or atmospheric rivers), as 

a place where supplies are distributed, where 

information is disseminated about the 

emergency, especially between CBO's and 

local governments. If there is off-grid power, 

the site could serve as a place where people 

could do to power up their phones and store 

their food, if needed. It could also store 

emergency supplies for other CBO's to 

distribute if there is space. If there is space, it 

could also serve as an emergency shelter 

(though not all resilience hubs will have that 

capacity). If there is a community kitchen, it 

could serve people food. Depending on 

people's wants, it could also support trauma-

informed care, such as massage, acupuncture 

or mental health counseling. After an 

emergency it could serve to disseminate 

information about disaster funding.

It really depends! We need a variety of types 

of sites serving different purposes. I prefer the 

MANY sites vs. just one centralized site. 

WHY? One of many reasons is that many 

vulnerable populations don't have the capacity 

to travel great distances; this is why we need 

many sites in communities. I think that small 

sites could serve as hubs, but just knowing 

that they will have less capacity than bigger 

sites. Bigger sites like community centers 

could be more of the central hub, while the 

smaller sites could be the "satellite" hubs. I 

think that community centers are great as 

hubs - both private and public sites . Libraries 

make good hubs for specific purposes 

(cooling & warning centers, specific types of 

programming), while schools are great for 

programming with kids and could serve during 

catastrophic emergencies as emergency 

shelters. Places of worship are also ideal 

because they are used less and often have a 

nice plot of land + most are paid off. 

Funding is a huge barrier, especially for the costlier 

infrastructure like solar with battery backup or a 

microgrid.  Hubs also need small pots of money so that 

they simply start to work on projects to support 

programming and events, such as a community 

visioning session. Communities need flexible funding - 

this is why I have always advocated for an intermediary 

fund for the smaller funds, pooling both private and 

public dollars, to distribute through an easy grant 

application to sites. Besides funding, TRAINING is 

crucial. Workshops which introduce organizations to 

what hubs are, to specific projects and events (like 

community visioning sessions), workshops that are for 

specific types of hubs (ie, workshops for libraries or for 

community centers). Communities also need a 

NETWORK or a COALITION (run by both govt and 

nonprofits), so that they can connect and be of 

support to not just the other resilience hubs, but also 

the other organizations and companies who are 

supporting the sites. They need both online and in-

person opportunities to connect and learn from each 

other. Communities need not just sites with off-grid 

power, but sites offering HOLISTIC programming and 

services (from mental health to food). Communities 

need not just the site itself, but the mutual aid - the 

community engagement in which individuals are going 

out into the community (away from the hub) and 

supporting the unhoused and other vulnerable 

populations.

Ideally in an 

underserved 

community, served by 

transportation. But the 

sites which WANT to 

become hubs - or 

which already have 

resilience-based 

programming  are the 

ideal sites! 

There are many existing 

sites which already are 

functioning as low-level 

resilience hubs. Start with 

them! Many places of 

worship, for example, which 

Interfaith Power and Light 

is working with, are these 

sites. As well, Castlemont 

High School is another 

potential location. West 

Oakland has already been 

working with WOEIP for a 

number of years to develop 

one. PLACE for 

Sustainable Living and 

Omni Commons in 

Oakland are private 

locations which sometimes 

have functioned as 

resilience hubs.

7

Could be any community member, but more 

likely it will be disadvantaged community 

members. We should be ready to serve non-

English speakers. 

Services should include: a place to get out of the 

heat or cold or poor air quality, charge a phone, 

access to a computer with internet, get access to 

services that are offered by the City, County and 

non-profits; and access to food. 

In addition to the above, it should offer basic 

first aid services, food, water, The size of a community center or a library. 

Staff capacity, funding, support from elected officials, 

support form community partners/non-profits. 

Existing libraries and 

community centers. 

Surplus schools. 

In Hayward, we are 

currently fundraising to 

build one in South Hayward 

( 

http://www.stackcenter.org/ 

)

https://www.sanleandro.org/1173/Hub-Sites-in-San-Leandro
https://www.sanleandro.org/1173/Hub-Sites-in-San-Leandro
https://www.sanleandro.org/1173/Hub-Sites-in-San-Leandro


Emergency Services Potential RH Facilities
Heating/Cooling Churches
Charging Center/Communications Park/Community/Rec Centers*
Food/Water Distribution Libraries*
Clean Air/Air Filtration Schools
Health Services MF affordable housing complexs
Electrification Support Homes
Medicine storage/distribution
Community Garden
Disaster Response Information

Non-Emergency Services Barriers to Resilience Hubs
Community Meetings Community Organizing
Sustainability/Climate/Equity trainings Funding to support RH operation
Religious Services Technical Support
Homeless Support Services Solar and Battery installation
Food distribution Identifying Sites
Health Services Program Managment
Resilience Hub Training Local Training on value of RH
Heating/Cooling Center
Workforce Development

Barriers to Resilience Hubs Who uses a Resilience Hub Count
Community Meetings Local Community 10
Sustainability/Climate/Equity trainings BIPOC Community 5
Religious Services Everyone 5
Homeless Support Services Communities of Concern 4
Food distribution Students 4
Health Services Low Income Residents 3
Resilience Hub Training Unhoused Population 3
Heating/Cooling Center Members 2
Workforce Development Immigrant Communities 2

Faith members 1
Health Professionals 1

Who uses a Resilience Hub
Everyone
Low Income Residents
BIPOC communities
Unhoused residents
Seniors
Immigrant residents (in langauge)
Local Residents (and businesses)
Members



Consent Item 12 

Consent Item 12 

TO: Ava Community Energy Authority 

FROM: Cait Cady, Public Engagement Coordinator 

SUBJECT: 2024 Community Advisory Committee (CAC) appointments 
(Action Item)   

DATE:  March 20, 2024  
__________________________________________________________________ 

Recommendation 

Adopt a Resolution approving the appointments of new Community Advisory Committee 
(“CAC”) Members to fill current vacancies. 

Background and Discussion 

On December 20, 2023, the Board of Directors approved a series of updates to the 
CAC Guide and Appointment process. The impetus for these updates was the recent 
inclusion of two more San Joaquin County communities within Ava’s Joint Powers 
Authority (JPA)—i.e., the cities of Stockton and Lathrop. The updates included the 
following:  

• Adjustments to the CAC’s regional seat allocations to include Stockton and
Lathrop (see below);

• Establishing that vacancies on the CAC will be filled on a semi-annual basis;
• Staggering terms for current and future CAC Members;
• Providing a new appointment process and term limits for At-large Members; and
• Other administrative updates.

CAC Item C6

https://cdn.sanity.io/files/pc49kbjr/production/8ffbf848c58d4e658091899d5eb7eff8433fadb2.pdf


Consent Item 12 

The CAC is composed of twelve active seats (Members)—ten of which represent 
specific Service Area Regions, and two of which serve as At Large members 
representing the entire service area—and five alternate seats (Alternates). Each Service 
Area Region is allocated seats based on cumulative electricity load, which corresponds 
with each jurisdiction’s JPA vote share. The current composition and regional seat 
allocations are summarized in the table below: 
 
Table 1: Community Advisory Committee (CAC) Seat Allocations  

Ava Service Area Region JPA Vote Share CAC Seat 
Allocation 

Alternate Seat 
Allocation 

North 
Albany, Berkeley, Oakland, 
Emeryville, and Piedmont 

27.7% 3 1 

East 
Dublin, Livermore, and 
Pleasanton 

12.8% 1 1 

South 
Fremont, Union City and 
Newark 

20.1% 2 1 

Central 
Hayward, San Leandro, and 
Alameda County 
Unincorporated 

18.5% 2 1 

San Joaquin County 
Tracy, Stockton, and 
Lathrop 

20.9% 2 1 

At-Large  1  
At-Large  1  
 
The last open application period for vacant CAC positions ended in February of 2021, 
and the Board of Directors approved the corresponding appointments in April and May 
of 2021. At this time, the CAC has the following vacancies:  
 

Ava Service Area Region 
Number of 

Vacant Member 
Positions 

Number of Vacant 
Alternate Positions  

North 
Albany, Berkeley, Oakland, Emeryville, and 
Piedmont 

1  1 

East 
Dublin, Livermore, and Pleasanton 1  1 

South N/A 1 



Consent Item 12 

Fremont, Union City and Newark 
Central 
Hayward, San Leandro, and Alameda County 
Unincorporated 

N/A 1 

San Joaquin County 
Tracy, Stockton, and Lathrop N/A 1 

At-Large N/A  
At-Large N/A  
Total Vacancies 2 5 

 
In December of 2023, Ava staff created an online application for members of the public 
interested in applying for the vacant CAC seats in their region(s). The application period 
was open from December 23, 2023 through March 4, 2024. When the application first 
opened in December 2023, the deadline to apply was February 2, 2024. With the 
anticipated opening of an additional seat in the North County region, the deadline was 
extended to March 4, 2024. During the application period, Ava staff completed an 
additional round of outreach to announce the opening of the North region position and 
the extended deadline for all applicants. 
 
The application period was announced through multiple communication channels, 
including, but not limited to, the following: 
 

• Emailing all Ava Board Members and Board Alternates draft language and links 
to the application to disseminate to their constituents;  

• Creating a pop-up announcement on Ava’s website/homepage from early 
January to the March 4th deadline; 

• Including a description and link to the application in the January edition of Ava’s 
Direct Current Newsletter; 

• Posting about the opportunity on Ava’s social media channels (e.g., Facebook, 
LinkedIn, Instagram, and X);  

• Announcing the application period to Ava’s municipal staff partners in every JPA 
member-jurisdiction, and creating outreach materials that cities could use in their 
newsletters and social media channels; 

• Email outreach to Community Based Organizations (CBOs) across Ava’s service 
area, including Ava Local Sponsorship recipients; 

 
Ava received 21 completed applications by the end of the application period. These 
applications included 12 from the North region, 3 from the Central region, and 6 from 
the East region. No applications were received from the San Joaquin County region or 
the South region. 
 

https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/CAORGEBCE/bulletins/38615c6
https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/CAORGEBCE/bulletins/38615c6


Consent Item 12 

Staff distributed the completed applications and solicited appointment recommendations 
from the Board Members representing the CAC region of each respective applicant. 
Appointment recommendations from Board Directors are summarized below:  
 
Ava Service Area Region Appointment Recommendation 
North 
Albany, Berkeley, Oakland, Emeryville, and 
Piedmont 

Indira Balkissoon (Member) 
Peter Weiner (Alternate Member) 
 

East 
Dublin, Livermore, and Pleasanton 

Pete Stephenson (Member) 
Jill Gile (Alternate Member) 

South 
Fremont, Union City and Newark 

 

Central 
Hayward, San Leandro, and Alameda County 
Unincorporated 

Rachel DiFranco (Alternate Member) 

San Joaquin County 
Tracy, Stockton, and Lathrop 

 

 
 
Fiscal Impact  
 
There is no new fiscal impact to approving the appointment of new CAC Members and 
Alternates. The current CAC stipend budget is $20,400 and current stipends are 
$123.55 per meeting. 
 
Committee Recommendation 
 
The appointment recommendations of Board Members from each respective Ava 
service area region are summarized in the table above.   
 
Attachments 
 

A. Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Ava Community Energy Authority to 
Authorize the Appointments of New Community Advisory Committee Members 
and Alternate Members 



Attachment Consent Item 12A 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2024-xx 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

OF AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY TO APPROVE THE APPOINTMENTS 
OF NEW COMMUNITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND ALTERNATE 

MEMBERS 

 

 WHEREAS The Ava Community Energy Authority (“Ava”) was formed as a 
community choice aggregation agency (“CCA”) on December 1, 2016, Under the Joint 
Exercise of Power Act, California Government Code sections 6500 et seq., among the 
County of Alameda, and the Cities of Albany, Berkeley, Dublin, Emeryville, Fremont, 
Hayward, Livermore, Piedmont, Oakland, San Leandro, and Union City to study, 
promote, develop, conduct, operate, and manage energy-related climate change 
programs in all of the member jurisdictions. The cities of Newark and Pleasanton, 
located in Alameda County, along with the City of Tracy, located in San Joaquin County, 
were added as members of Ava and parties to the JPA in March of 2020. The city of 
Stockton, located in San Joaquin County was added as a member of Ava and party to 
the JPA in September of 2022. The city of Lathrop, located in San Joaquin County, was 
added as a member to Ava and party to the JPA in October of 2023. On October 24, 
2023, the Authority legally adopted the name Ava Community Energy Authority, where it 
had previously used the name East Bay Community Energy Authority since its 
inception. 

WHEREAS, Section 4.9 of the JPA Agreement established the Community 
Advisory Committee to advise the Board of Directors on subjects related Ava’s 
operations, and Members are appointed by the Board and will represent diverse cross-
sections of the service area. 

 WHEREAS, when Ava’s service area expanded to include the San Joaquin 
County cities of Lathrop and Stockton, staff sought direction from the Board of Directors 
on updates to the Community Advisory Committee Guide and Appointment Process 
(“Guide”) to include representation for customers within the new jurisdictions. 

 WHEREAS, at its meeting on December 20, 2023, the Board of Directors 
approved updates to the Guide to include the new service area, as well as various 
process updates. 

WHEREAS, from December 22, 2023, to March 4, 2024, Ava hosted an online 
application where members of the public could apply to be considered for a vacant 
position on the Community Advisory Committee and appointed by Ava’s Board of 
Directors. 

 WHEREAS, twenty-one completed applications were received during the 
application period; including twelve from the North region, six from the East region, and 
3 from the Central region. 



Attachment Consent Item 12A 

WHEREAS, the Directors from each Ava region reviewed the applications from 
their respective planning areas and recommended the applicants to be considered for 
appointment by the Board of Directors. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF AVA COMMUNITY 
ENERGY AUTHORITY DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The Board of Directors hereby authorizes the appointments of the 
following Community Advisory Committee Members and Alternate Members, as 
identified by the Directors from each respective planning area: 

Ava Service Area Region Appointment Recommendation 
North 
Albany, Berkeley, Oakland, Emeryville, and 
Piedmont 

Indira Balkissoon (Member) 
Peter Weiner (Alternate Member)  

East 
Dublin, Livermore, and Pleasanton 

Pete Stephenson (Member) 
Jill Gile (Alternate Member) 

South 
Fremont, Union City and Newark 

 

Central 
Hayward, San Leandro, and Alameda County 
Unincorporated 

Rachel DiFranco (Alternate Member) 

San Joaquin County 
Tracy, Stockton, and Lathrop 

 

 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 20th day of March, 2024. 

 

     

             

     Jack Balch, Chair 

ATTEST: 

 

      

Adrian Bankhead, Clerk of the Board 

 



Consent Item 13 

Consent Item 13 

TO: Ava Community Energy Board of Directors 

FROM: Alec Ward, Principal Legislative Manager 
Feby Boediarto, Policy Analyst II 

SUBJECT: Update on State Bills Ava is Tracking (Informational Item) 

DATE: March 20, 2024 
__________________________________________________________________ 

Recommendation 

This is an informational update on state bills Ava has been tracking during the 2024 legislative 
session. 

Background and Discussion 

The intent of this staff report is to provide an update on the 24 state bills that Ava is tracking 
during this legislative session. 

The deadline for California bill introductions was February 16, 2024. The final day for California 
lawmakers to pass bills this year is on August 31, 2024.  The Governor must sign or veto bills by 
September 30, 2024. 

Numerous bills are currently being amended.  Due to the changing nature of these bills, staff will 
bring forward a legislative action item at a later regular Board meeting where they will present 
bills with requests that the Board take certain positions. Ava has not adopted a position on any 
bills yet, including the ones listed in the presentation. 

Attachments 

A. Legislative Update Presentation

CAC Item C7



Ava Legislative Update
March 20, 2024

Attachment Consent Item 13A



Key Deadlines 2024 Legislative Year

• January 3: Legislature reconvenes

• January 10: Governor submitted budget

• February 16: Bill introduction deadline

• April 26: Policy cmtes to move fiscal bills to fiscal cmtes (1st house)

• May 3: Policy cmtes to move nonfiscal bills to floor (1st house)

• May 17: Fiscal cmtes must move bills to floor (1st house)

• May 24: Last day for bills to be passed out of 1st house

• June 15: Budget bill must be passed

• July 3: Policy cmtes to meet and report bills (2nd house)

• August 16: Fiscal cmtes to move bills to floor (2nd house)

• August 31: Last day for each house to pass bills

• September 30: Last day for Governor to sign/veto bills

Attachment Consent Item 13A



State Bills Ava is Tracking

Bill # (Author) Description

AFFORDABILITY

AB 1999 (Irwin) Repeals AB 205, which established the income-graduated fixed charge (IGFC) for residential electric 
customers, caps fixed charges for residential bills at: $5 for CARE/FERA customers and $10 for non-CARE/non-
FERA customers

AB 2805 (Essayli) Repeals AB 205

SB 1130 (Bradford) Expands FERA program eligibility by eliminating the requirement that a household consist of 3 or more 
persons. Orders IOUs to report on FERA enrollment.

SB 1292 (Bradford) Orders PUC to report on the IGFC adoption by July 1, 2027

SB 1312 (Nguyen) Repeals AB 205

SB 1326 (Jones) Repeals AB 205. Caps fixed charges for residential bills at: $10/ resident, $5/ CARE/FERA resident

BROWN ACT

AB 817 (Pacheco) Adds non-emergency provisions to allow a member of the subsidiary body (i.e. CAC) to call in remotely if 
quorum is met in a physical location until 2026. Allows remote members to not disclose their locations

Attachment Consent Item 13A



State Bills Cont.

Bill # (Author) Description

BONDS

AB 1567 (Garcia) (Held) Authorizes $2 billion in funding for clean energy projects

SB 867 (Allen) (Held) Authorizes $2 billion in funding for clean energy projects

BUILDING DECARBONIZATION/ HOUSING

SB 1054 (Rubio) Establishes the Climate Pollution Reduction in Homes Initiative to award providers (non-profit, local gov) 
financial assistance to low-income households for the purchase of zero-emitting household appliances

SB 1095 (Becker) Streamlines transition from gas to zero-emitting appliances in mobile and manufactured homes, and updates 
state housing standards to allow such installations

SB 1210 (Skinner) Caps the utility connection charge for new housing. Prioritizes housing in interconnection queue

EVs

AB 2427 (McCarty) Orders GO-Biz to create checklists and best practices to help local government permit curbside charging 
stations

AB 2453 (Villapudua) Authorizes the use of an instrument measuring electricity transferred from an EV

SB 233 (Skinner) Amended to require CEC, CARB, and the PUC to convene a working group to deploy vehicles that have 
bidirectional capabilities

Attachment Consent Item 13A



State Bills Cont.

Bill # (Author) Description

RENEWABLES

AB 2256 (Friedman) Orders PUC to develop a new NEM tariff starting 2026 that ensures enough solar to hit state goals

AB 2619 (Connolly) Orders PUC to develop a new NEM tariff starting 2026 that ensures enough solar to hit state goals

SB 1305 (Stern) Requires PUC to order procurement (including for CCAs) of virtual power plants and meet resource adequacy 
requirements. Capacity and timeline requirements range from 2.5% - 15% beginning in 2028

TRANSMISSION

AB 2940 (Muratsuchi) Defines new transmission projects as “environmental leadership development projects,” allowing for a 
streamlined CA environmental review process

SB 1006 (Padilla) Requires the PUC ensure that the state is on track to deliver specified transmission capacity goals by certain 
dates 

SB 1311 (Stern) Orders PUC and CEC to report on process timelines for transmission and grid infrastructure capacity including 
expected completion dates. Requires CEC demand forecasts incorporate weather variability

Attachment Consent Item 13A



State Bills Cont.

Bill # (Author) Description

UTILITY-SPECIFIC

AB 2054 (Bauer-Kahan) Forbids members of the PUC or CEC from being employed by an entity subject to regulation by the 
commission (including IOUs and CCAs) for a period of 10 years after ceasing to be a member of the 
commission. 

SB 938 (Min) Prohibit political lobbying by IOUs that can be charged to ratepayers, define “political influence activity” 

SB 993 (Becker) PUC must evaluate and if reasonable, established a clean energy development incentive rate for IOUs for 
new commercial and industrial electrical load by 2026

Attachment Consent Item 13A



Staff Report Item 21 

Staff Report Item 21 

TO: Ava Community Energy Authority  

FROM: Todd Edmister, Senior Director of Public Policy and Deputy General 
Counsel 
Michael Quiroz, Regulatory Analyst 

SUBJECT: Request for Approval of a Compliance Plan for the California Energy 
Commission’s Load Management Standards 

DATE:  March 20, 2024 
__________________________________________________________________ 

Recommendation 

California Energy Commission (“CEC”) regulations, 20 CCR § 1623.1, Large POU and 
Large CCA Requirements for Load Management Standards (“LMS”), require CCAs to 
submit LMS compliance plans to their boards by April 1, 2024, for adoption with 60 days 
of submittal.  

The compliance plan in Attachment A to the accompanying resolution (“Compliance 
Plan”): (1) describes Ava Community Energy Authority (“Ava”) activities to make 
information on Ava’s time-variant rates available to the public and (2) would have Ava 
participate in dynamic pricing pilots and rates in conjunction with Pacific Gas and 
Electric Company (“PG&E”).  The proposed compliance plan defers adoption of 
dynamic rates for all customers pending analysis of data from the pilots and initial rates. 

• Staff recommends that the Board authorize Ava staff to file a compliance plan
largely in the form set forth in Attachment A to the accompanying Resolution,
within 60 days.

CAC Item C8



Staff Report Item 21 

• Staff further recommends that the Board delegate to staff authority to make 
changes to the proposed compliance plan prior to filing, so long as consistent 
with Board direction. 

 
The Board may vote now, or defer a decision on this item to the April meeting.  Either 
will allow Ava to timely submit a compliance plan to the CEC. 
 
Background and Discussion  
 
Since 1974, the California Energy Commission (“CEC”) has held the authority to 
establish and revise load management standards.  In general terms, load management 
standards concern mechanisms for changing energy use in response to system 
conditions.  Load management standards historically covered devices, like smart 
thermostats, and customer programs, like incentive payments to customers to reduce 
usage when the electricity grid is stressed. 
 
On April 1, 2023, the CEC amended the LMS.  As amended, the LMS now requires 
large investor owned utilities (“IOUs”), publicly owned utilities (“POUs”) and community 
choice aggregators (“CCAs”; collectively with IOUS and POUs, “LSEs”) to adopt: 
(1) hourly location-based electric rates (“dynamic rates”) or load flexibility programs and 
(2) systems for reporting current and future time-dependent rates.   
 
Every LSE must develop a compliance plan describing how they will meet the various 
requirements of the LMS on the timeline set forth in the regulation: 
 

“[W]ithin one year of April 1, 2023, each Large CCA, shall submit a 
compliance plan that is consistent with this Section 1623.1 to its rate 
approving body for adoption in a duly noticed public meeting to be held 
within 60 days after the plan is submitted. The plan shall describe how the 
Large POU or the Large CCA will meet the goals of encouraging the use 
of electrical energy at off-peak hours, encouraging the control of daily and 
seasonal peak loads to improve electric system efficiency and reliability, 
lessening or delaying the need for new electrical capacity, and reducing 
fossil fuel consumption and greenhouse gas emissions.”1    

 
Further, any compliance plan must “evaluate cost effectiveness, equity, technological 
feasibility, benefits to the grid, and benefits to customers of marginal cost-based rates 
for each customer class.”2 

 
1 20 CCR § 1623.1(a)(1). 
2 Id. 



Staff Report Item 21 

 
The Compliance Plan here includes the required explanations, as well as considerations 
of the specified marginal cost-based rate structures and programs described in the LMS 
and evaluates each with respect to cost-effectiveness, equity, technological feasibility, 
and benefits to the grid and to customers. 
 
Under the Compliance Plan, Ava will participate in dynamic pricing pilots and rates 
alongside PG&E, which made a similar proposal in its earlier-filed LMS compliance 
plan.  A list of the dynamic rates and rate pilots in which Ava may participate is provided 
in Table 4 of the Compliance Plan.  There are 6 rates/pilots that PG&E anticipates 
launching through 2025, in which CCA participation is possible.  Of these, for the 
reasons detailed in the Compliance Plan, Ava staff recommend the Board authorize (but 
not require) Ava participating in all of the rates/pilots. 
 
Ava will re-evaluate dynamic rates in the next update of this plan with the benefit of 
additional information from its participation. For now, Ava will defer broader adoption of 
new dynamic rates or programs. Staff has found that the limited information available on 
dynamic rates is equivocal on their effects on the above-listed factors.  Dynamic rates 
have not been widely adopted.  Where they have been adopted, impacts vary 
significantly depending on rate or program design (e.g., opt-in v. opt-out), customer 
class (e.g., residential v. commercial) and, for residential customers, customer income. 
 
Staff cannot conclude that putting in place new rate structures that change at least 
hourly for all customers would result in material peak load reduction or be cost effective 
relative to Ava’s existing time-dependent rates and load flexibility programs. Significant 
uncertainties exist related to the level of incremental load shift potential, customer 
response to hourly market prices, customer acceptance and adoption of a complex new 
rate design with higher risk, the administrative costs of dynamic rate implementation, 
and potential cost shifts between participants and non-participants. 
 
Fiscal Impact  
 
The proposed compliance plan minimizes LMS compliance costs.  Participating in 
dynamic rates/pilots will entail additional administrative costs for Ava.  As noted above, 
administrative cost recovery is available through CPUC mechanisms in whole or in part 
for participating in some pilots.  While exact costs are as yet undetermined, staff 
expects that these costs will require no additional funding beyond current 
authorizations. 
 
 
 



Staff Report Item 21 

Attachments 
 

A. Resolution to Approve a Compliance Plan for the California Energy 
Commission’s Load Management Standards, including Attachment A Ava 
Community Energy Load Management Standards Compliance Plan  

 



Attachment Staff Report Item 21A 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2024-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

OF THE AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY TO APPROVE A COMPLIANCE 
PLAN FOR THE CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION’S LOAD MANAGEMENT 

STANDARDS 

 

 WHEREAS The Ava Community Energy Authority (“Ava”) was formed as a 
community choice aggregation agency (“CCA”) on December 1, 2016, Under the Joint 
Exercise of Power Act, California Government Code sections 6500 et seq., among the 
County of Alameda, and the Cities of Albany, Berkeley, Dublin, Emeryville, Fremont, 
Hayward, Livermore, Piedmont, Oakland, San Leandro, and Union City to study, 
promote, develop, conduct, operate, and manage energy-related climate change 
programs in all of the member jurisdictions. The cities of Newark and Pleasanton, 
located in Alameda County, along with the City of Tracy, located in San Joaquin County, 
were added as members of Ava and parties to the JPA in March of 2020. The city of 
Stockton, located in San Joaquin County was added as a member of Ava and party to 
the JPA in September of 2022. The city of Lathrop, located in San Joaquin County, was 
added as a member to Ava and party to the JPA in October of 2023. On October 24, 
2023, the Authority legally adopted the name Ava Community Energy Authority, where it 
had previously used the name East Bay Community Energy Authority since its 
inception. 

 WHEREAS The California Energy Commission (“CEC”) approved revisions to 
the Load Management Standards on April 1, 2023 that require large CCAs, investor-
owned utilities (“IOUs”), and publicly owned utilities (“POUs”) to develop hourly, 
marginal cost, location-based electric rates (“dynamic rates”) and systems for reporting 
current and future time-dependent rates (see 20 CCR § 1623.1, Large POU and Large 
CCA Requirements for Load Management Standards (“LMS”)).  

 WHEREAS Pursuant to the LMS, “within one year of April 1, 2023, each Large 
CCA, shall submit a compliance plan that is consistent with this Section 1623.1 to its 
rate approving body for adoption in a duly noticed public meeting to be held within 60 
days after the plan is submitted.”   

WHEREAS Ava's staff has submitted to Ava’s board of directors the Compliance 
Plan attached hereto as Attachment A, which includes considerations of the specified 
dynamic rates described in the LMS and evaluates each with respect to cost-
effectiveness, equity, technological feasibility, and benefits to the grid and to customers; 
and 

WHEREAS Ava's evaluation of the foregoing has identified significant 
uncertainties around the effects of dynamic rates; and  

 
WHEREAS to address these uncertainties Ava should participate in dynamic 

pricing pilots and rates with PG&E, and re-evaluate dynamic rate cost-effectiveness, 



Attachment Staff Report Item 21A 

equity, technological feasibility, and benefits to the grid and to customers with data from 
the pricing pilots and rates. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF AVA COMMUNITY 
ENERGY AUTHORITY DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The board of directors hereby directs Ava staff to file with the CEC 
Compliance Plan for the Load Management Standards substantially in the form 
attached hereto as Attachment A (“Compliance Plan”) by the deadline set forth in the 
LMS. 

Section 2. The board of directors authorizes Ava staff to revise the Compliance 
Plan prior to filing with the CEC, consistent with the guidance in this Resolution. 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 20th day of March, 2024. 

 

     

             

     Jack Balch, Chair 

ATTEST: 

 

      

Adrian Bankhead, Clerk of the Board 

 



Attachment Staff Report Item 21A 

Attachment A 

Ava Community Energy Authority Load Management Standards Compliance Plan 

 



Ava Community Energy Load Management 

Standards Compliance Plan

March 20, 2024 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



1 Executive Summary .............................................................................................................................. 4 

2 Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 6 

2.1 About Ava .................................................................................................................................... 6 

2.2 Ava’s 100 Percent Renewable Energy Policy ............................................................................... 6 

2.3 Load Management Standards ..................................................................................................... 7 

2.3.1 Ava’s Compliance Roadmap .................................................................................................. 7 

2.3.2 Ava’s Compliance Plan Administration ................................................................................. 9 

3 Access to Price Signals ........................................................................................................................ 10 

3.1 Upload of time Dependent Rates .............................................................................................. 10 

3.1.1 Existing rates uploaded to MIDAS ....................................................................................... 10 

3.1.2 New and updated rate uploads .......................................................................................... 10 

3.2 Providing RINs to Customers ..................................................................................................... 10 

3.3 Single Statewide RIN Access Tool .............................................................................................. 11 

3.3.1 Resource commitment and implementation ...................................................................... 11 

3.3.2 Statewide tool considerations ............................................................................................ 11 

4 Dynamic Rates .................................................................................................................................... 13 

4.1 Overview of Current Time-Dependent Rates ............................................................................ 13 

4.1.1 Residential Rates ................................................................................................................. 15 

4.1.2 Non-Residential Rates ......................................................................................................... 15 

4.2 Ava’s Rate Development Process .............................................................................................. 15 

4.2.1 Rate Review and Setting Process ........................................................................................ 16 

4.2.2 Ava Value Proposition ......................................................................................................... 16 

4.2.3 Rate Design and Implementation ....................................................................................... 16 

4.3 Evaluation of New Dynamic Rates ............................................................................................. 17 

4.3.1 Cost-Effectiveness ............................................................................................................... 18 

4.3.2 Equity .................................................................................................................................. 23 

4.3.3 Technological Feasibility ..................................................................................................... 24 

4.3.4 Benefits to the Grid and Customers .................................................................................... 26 

4.3.5 Compliance Approach ......................................................................................................... 28 

5 Load Flexibility Programs ................................................................................................................... 29 

5.1 Overview of Current Load Flexibility Programs ......................................................................... 29 

5.1.1 Resilient Home .................................................................................................................... 29 

5.1.2 Critical Municipal Facilities.................................................................................................. 29 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



5.1.3 DERMs and Residential Managed EV Charging ................................................................... 30 

5.1.4 Capacity Based Battery Incentive Program ......................................................................... 30 

5.2 Evaluation of New Programs ..................................................................................................... 30 

5.2.1 Cost Effectiveness ............................................................................................................... 30 

5.2.2 Equity .................................................................................................................................. 32 

5.2.3 Technological Feasibility ..................................................................................................... 33 

5.2.4 Benefits to the Grid and Customers .................................................................................... 34 

5.2.5 Compliance Approach ......................................................................................................... 35 

6 Public Information Program ............................................................................................................... 36 

6.1 Ava’s Communication Approach ............................................................................................... 36 

6.2 Compliance Approach ............................................................................................................... 36 

7 Delay and Modification of Compliance Requirements ..................................................................... 38 

7.1 Providing RINs to Customers ..................................................................................................... 38 

7.2 Statewide RIN Access Tool......................................................................................................... 38 

7.2.1 Development of Statewide Tool ......................................................................................... 38 

7.2.2 Implementation of Statewide Tool ..................................................................................... 39 

7.3 Dynamic Rates ........................................................................................................................... 39 

7.4 Dynamic Response Load Flexibility Programs ........................................................................... 40 

7.4.1 Identification of Cost-Effective Load Flexibility Programs .................................................. 40 

7.4.2 Voluntary Participation in Cost-Effective Load Flexibility Programs................................... 40 

8 Appendices ......................................................................................................................................... 41 

8.1 Appendix A................................................................................................................................. 41 

 

 

  

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



1 Executive Summary 
Since 1974, the California Energy Commission (“CEC”) held the authority to establish and revise the Load 

Management Standards (“LMS”). On April 1, 2023, the CEC adopted amendments to the LMS, which 

require all large utilities and community choice aggregators (“CCAs”) to provide dynamic electricity rates 

in a format that can be communicated with smart devices or automation service providers. The updated 

standards aim to assist customers to take better advantage of time-dependent rates, with the goal of 

decreasing overall costs by shifting energy use from peak to non-peak time periods. In addition, any 

technological and behavior changes, resulting from the LMS revisions, may slow the rise of future energy 

costs, increase grid reliability, reduce the need for building more conventional power plants, and avoid 

transmission and distribution congestion. 

To accomplish these goals, the LMS regulation requires California’s Large Investor-Owned Utilities (IOUs), 

Large Publicly Owned Utilities (POUs), and Large Community Choice Aggregators (CCAs) to develop and 

propose rate structures that change at least hourly based upon marginal costs. If, after performing an 

evaluation, a load serving entity determines (LSE) not to propose new rates because offering such rates 

to its customers would not materially reduce peak load, the LSE must offer cost-effective load flexibility 

programs, including programs that allow its customers to automatically respond to hourly or sub-hourly 

marginal cost-based rates, marginal prices, or greenhouse gas (GHG) signals from the CEC-maintained 

Market Informed Demand Automation Server (MIDAS) database, where the LSE determines such 

programs would materially reduce peak load. 

Each LSE must develop a compliance plan describing how they will meet the various requirements of the 

LMS regulation. The CCAs and POUs may delay or modify compliance with such requirements if they can 

show that despite good faith effort, the regulatory requirements must be modified to provide a more 

technologically feasible, equitable, safe, or cost-effective way to achieve the LMS regulation goals. 

Ava strongly supports the intent and goals of the LMS regulation and is working towards similar goals 

through programs and pilots, which are helping Ava understand how it can most effectively partner with 

customers with behind-the-meter devices in a way that maximizes the resource and is supportive of the 

customer experience. Additionally, Ava’s 100% Renewable Energy Policy sets a goal of purchasing 100% 

clean power by 2023. 

Ava’s compliance plan includes considerations of the specified marginal cost-based rate structures and 

programs, as described in the LMS Amendments, and evaluates the rate structures and programs with 

respect to cost-effectiveness, equity, technological feasibility, and benefits to the grid and customers. 

Based on this evaluation, Ava cannot conclude that implementing complex new rate structures that 

change at least hourly by January 1, 2027, would result in material reductions in peak load reduction 

relative to Ava’s existing time-dependent rates, programs, or pilots, or be cost effective. This is, in large 

part, because s significant uncertainties exist related to the level of incremental load shift potential, 

customer response to market price risks, customer acceptance and adoption of a complex new rate 

design, the administrative costs of dynamic rate implementation, and potential cost shifts between 

participants and non-participants. Ava’s existing rates, coupled with current and planned load flexibility 

programs and pilots, capture a substantial portion of the available load shift benefits from Ava’s 

customers. In addition, implementation of unfamiliar and complex rate structures without sufficient 

testing and refinement of the new rate designs would likely result in low customer adoption, further 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



limiting realization of any potential added load shift benefits. For similar reasons, Ava’s evaluation cannot 

conclude that implementing new programs that allow for automated response to MIDAS signals would 

result in incremental reductions in peak load or be cost-effective, relative to Ava’s current and planned 

load flexibility programs and pilots. 

In this compliance plan, based on the evaluation of dynamic rates and programs that follow, Ava describes 

a pathway for achieving LMS goals that is cost-effective, customer oriented, and technologically feasible. 

Ava will continue to offer time-variant rates that customers are familiar with alongside a robust portfolio 

of demand flexibility programs. Ava will reevaluate the specified rate and program designs in the next 

compliance plan update, with the benefit of data from dynamic rate pilots.  

Ava’s Plan was presented and submitted to Ava’s Board of Directors (“Board”) within one year of the 

adoption of LMS amendments on April 1, 2023. The Plan was adopted by the Board in a duly noticed 

meeting on XX XX, 2024, and this decision was made by Ava’s Board acting as its rate-approving body. Ava 

will review the Plan every three years following adoption, and material Plan updates will be submitted to 

the Board for approval.   

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



2 Introduction 

About Ava 
Ava Community Energy Authority (“Ava”; formerly known as “East Bay Community Energy Authority” or 

“EBCE”) is a public agency located within Alameda County, formed for the purpose of implementing a 

community choice aggregation program (“CCA”). At the time of initial service commencement, the 

Member Agencies of Ava included the cities of Albany, Berkeley, Dublin, Emeryville, Fremont, Hayward, 

Livermore, Oakland, Piedmont, San Leandro, and Union City located within the County of Alameda 

(“County”) as well as the unincorporated areas of the County itself (together, the “Members” or “Member 

Agencies”). The Members elected to allow Ava to provide electric generation service within their 

respective jurisdictions. In anticipation of CCA program implementation and in compliance with state law, 

Ava submitted its Implementation Plan to the California Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC” or 

“Commission”) on August 10, 2017, and it was subsequently certified by the CPUC on November 8, 2017.  

Ava launched the Program on June 1, 2018, and has been serving customers since that time.  

On December 20, 2019, Ava submitted its Addendum 1 to Ava’s Implementation Plan (“Addendum No. 

1”) to the CPUC to address Ava expansion to the cities of Pleasanton, Newark, and Tracy. Addendum No. 

1 was subsequently certified by the CPUC on March 9, 2020. Eligible electricity accounts in those 

jurisdictions have been successfully receiving service from Ava since April of 2021.  

On December 8, 2022, Ava submitted its Addendum 2 to Ava’s Implementation Plan (“Addendum No. 2”) 

to the CPUC to address Ava expansion to the City of Stockton. Addendum No. 2 was subsequently certified 

by the CPUC on March 8, 2023. Eligible electricity accounts in those jurisdictions are currently preparing 

to begin service with Ava after January 2025, per CPUC Resolution E-5258. 

On September 28, 2023, Ava submitted its Addendum 3 to Ava’s Implementation Plan (“Addendum No. 

2”) to the CPUC to address Ava expansion to the City of Stockton. Addendum No. 2 was subsequently 

certified by the CPUC on December 18, 2023. Eligible electricity accounts in those jurisdictions are 

currently preparing to begin service with Ava after January 2025. 

The Program now provides electric generation service to approximately 640,000 residential and 

commercial accounts. With the enrollment of the City of Stockton, Ava expects to provide service to 

approximately 111,700 additional accounts, and another 7,300 additional accounts with the enrollment 

of the City of Lathrop. As such, Ava anticipates providing service to approximately 760,000 accounts in 

total beginning in 2025. Energy consumption in 2025 is forecast to be 8,765 GWh. Capacity requirements 

in 2025 are forecast to be 2,617 MW. 

2.1 Ava’s 100 Percent Renewable Energy Policy 
Currently, Ava offers its customers two different product choices: (1) Bright Choice, which offers a fixed 

percentage savings relative to PG&E’s generation rates with renewable and carbon-free content set to 

meet an annual target enroute to a 100% carbon-free objective in 2030; and (2) Renewable 100, which 

offers a 100% renewable electricity mix at a small fixed per-kWh premium relative to PG&E’s generation.  

Ava will provide much of its electricity from renewable sources such as solar, wind and small 

hydroelectricity—which do not pollute or produce greenhouse gases. Switching from conventional energy 

sources to renewable energy is the single most effective way to accomplish its communities’ climate 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



action goals. Ava's Board of Directors established the goal of purchasing 100% clean power by 2030 — a 

full 15 years before the state's goal date. 

2.2 Load Management Standards 
The central focus of the CEC’s LMS Rulemaking is to encourage customers to shift electricity use from peak 

times of day when it is expensive and polluting to cheaper and cleaner off-peak times of the day. According 

to the Public Resources Code, section 25132, load management is defined as “any utility program or 

activity that is intended to reshape deliberately a utility’s load duration curve.” Load management reduces 

the need for new electrical generation and backup generation, thus lowering customer energy costs, and 

is a key strategy to ensure grid reliability and resilience, distributed energy resources integration, and GHG 

emissions reduction. 

The CEC adopted 20 CCR § 1623.1 (the “LMS amendments”) through a rulemaking on April 1, 2023. The 

LMS Amendments require publicly- and investor-owned utilities and Large CCAs to offer customers access 

to rate structures and programs that provide the information needed to manage and optimize their 

energy use. Specifically, the revisions require development of marginal cost-based rates or load flexibility 

programs. 

The LMS Amendments define marginal cost as “the change in current and future electric system cost that 

is caused by a change in electricity supply and demand during a specified time interval at a specified 

location.”1 Total marginal cost is calculated as “the sum of the marginal energy cost, the marginal capacity 

cost (generation, transmission, and distribution), and any other appropriate time and location dependent 

marginal costs, including the locational marginal cost of associated greenhouse gas emissions, on a time 

interval of no more than one hour.” 

In this Plan, Ava uses the term dynamic rates to refer to rates that reflect generation marginal cost signals 

on an hourly or sub-hourly basis. As a CCA, Ava is authorized and responsible for setting and recovering 

only the generation cost components for each applicable electric rate. Pacific Gas and Electric (“PG&E”), 

the investor-owned utility for Ava’s service territory, is responsible for setting distribution, transmission, 

and any other non-generation cost components for each rate. 

2.2.1 Ava’s Compliance Roadmap 
Adopted LMS amendments section 1623.1(c) requires Ava, along with the other load serving entities, to 

develop and submit a compliance plan in response to meeting the revised LMS requirements. The 

following table is a roadmap identifying where each regulatory requirement, along with the due date, is 

addressed within Ava’s compliance plan. 

LMS Section Regulatory Requirement Due Date Plan Section 

§1623.1(c) Within three months of regulation effective date, 
4/1/2023, upload existing time-dependent rates to 
the MIDAS database.2 

8/1/2023 3.1.1 

1 Energy cost computations shall reflect locational marginal cost pricing as determined by the associated balancing 
authority, such as the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power, the Balancing Authority of Northern California, 
or other balancing authority. Marginal capacity cost computations shall reflect the variations in the probability and 
value of system reliability of each component (generation, transmission, and distribution). 20 CCR 1623.1(b)(1). 
2  On June 1, 2023, the CEC issued Order No. 23-0531-10 in response to a request for extension from the IOUs and 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



§1623.1(a)(1) Within one year of regulation effective date, develop 
and submit compliance plan addressing how Ava 
plans to comply with LMS requirements, including 
evaluation of marginal cost-based rates and 
programs, to Ava’s Board. The plan must be 
considered for adoption within 60 days after 
submission. 

4/1/2024 2.3.2.1 

§1623.1(a)(3)(A) Submit compliance plan to the Executive Director on 
the CEC within 30 days of adoption of the plan. 
Respond to requests for additional information 
and/or recommendations within 90 days. 

6/1/2024 2.3.2.2 

§1623(c)(4) Within one year of regulation effective date, provide 
customers access to their Rate Identification 
Numbers (“RIN”) on billing statements and in online 
accounts using both text and QR. 

4/1/2024 3.2 

§1623(c)(2) Within 18 months of regulation effective date, 
develop and submit to the CEC, in conjunction with 
the other obligated utilities, a single statewide 
standard tool for authorized rate data access by third 
parties, and the terms and conditions for using the 
tool. Upon CEC approval, maintain and implement 
the tool. 

10/1/2024 3.3 

§1623.1(b)(3) Within 18 months of regulation effective date, 
submit to the CEC Executive Director a list of load 
flexibility programs deemed cost effective by Ava. 
The portfolio of programs must provide at least one 
option to automate response to MIDAS signals for 
each customer class where Ava’s Board has 
determined such a program would materially reduce 
peak demand. 

10/1/2024 5.2.5.1 

§1623.1(a)(3)(C) Submit annual reports to the CEC Executive 
Director demonstrating implementation of plan, 
as approved by Ava’s Board. 

Every 
year, 
starting on 
4/1/2025 

2.3.2.4 

§1623.1(b)(2) Within 27 months of the regulation effective date, 
submit at least one marginal cost-based rate to Ava’s 
Board for approval for any customer class(es) where 
such a rate will materially reduce peak load. 

7/1/2025 4.3.5 

§1623.1(b)(4) Within 51 months of the regulation effective 
date, offer customers voluntary participation in 
either a marginal cost-based rate, if approved by 
Ava’s Board, or a cost-effective load flexibility 
program. 

7/1/2027 4.3.5 and 
5.2.5.2 

§1623.1(b)(5) Conduct a public information program to inform and 
educate affected customers why marginal cost-based 

Ongoing, 
dependent 

6.2 

Large CCAs. The Order approved an extension for CCAs to upload time-dependent generation rates by August 1, 
2023, and remaining time-depending rates with rate modifiers by October 1, 2023. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



rates or load flexibility programs and automation are 
needed, how they will be used, and how these rates 
and programs can save customers money. 

on 
offerings 

§1623.1(a)(1)(C) Review the plan at least once every 3 years after the 
plan is adopted and submit a plan update to the 
Board if there is a material change. 

Every 3 
years 

2.3.2.3 

2.2.2 Ava’s Compliance Plan Administration 

2.2.2.1 Plan Development and Board Approval Process 

Adopted LMS amendments section 1623.1(a) requires each Large CCA to submit a compliance plan 

consistent with the applicable requirements of the LMS, as well as actions taken to meet those 

requirements to its rate-approving body. The compliance plan must be submitted within one year of the 

regulation effective date, or by April 1, 2024, and must be considered for adoption by the rate approving 

body in a duly noticed public meeting within 60 days of submission. 

This Plan meets the requirements of section 1623.1(a). The Plan was submitted to the Board prior to April 

1, 2024, and presented to Ava’s Board at a duly noticed meeting on XX XX, 2024. Ava’s Board approved 

this Plan. The description of how Ava complies with each element of the regulatory requirements of the 

LMS amendments is provided in the subsequent sections of this Plan. 

2.2.2.2 CEC Review process 

Adopted LMS amendments section 1623.1(a)(3) specifies that, upon adoption by the Large CCA rate 

approving-body, the plan must be submitted to the CEC Executive Director within 30 days for review. Ava’s 

Board is the sole authority to approve rates and in this regulatory proceeding, the CEC’s role is limited to 

determining whether this adopted Plan complies with the regulation. 

Following the Plan’s presentation and adoption by Ava’s Board on March 20, 2024, the Plan will be 

submitted to the CEC by April 1, 2024 for review. Any requests for additional information or recommended 

changes will be addressed, and a written response submitted to the CEC within 90 days as required in the 

regulation. 

2.2.2.3 Triennial Plan Review 

Adopted LMS amendments section 1623.1(a)(1)(C) requires each Large CCA to review its compliance plan 

at least once every three years. The CCA must submit a plan update to its rate-approving body where 

there is a material change to the factors considered in evaluating marginal cost-based rates and programs. 

Material revisions to the plan shall follow the same process as the initial plan approval. 

This Plan will be reviewed by Ava every three years following the date of adoption and material updates 

will be submitted to Ava’s Board for approval. Subsequently, this Plan and any approved material updates 

will be duly submitted to the CEC. 

2.2.2.4 Annual Reporting 

Adopted LMS amendments section 1623.1(a)(3)(C) requires each Large CCA to submit to demonstrate 

implementation of its LMS compliance plan through a submission to the CEC Executive Director. Each 

Large CCA must submit the initial report one year after adoption of the plan by the CCA’s rate-approving 

body, and annually thereafter. Ava will submit annual reports to the CEC Executive Director describing the 

implementation of this Plan. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



3 Access to Price Signals 

3.1 Upload of time Dependent Rates 
Section 1623.1(c) of the LMS Amendments requires each Large CCA to “upload its existing time dependent 

rates applicable to its customers to the Commission’s Market Informed Demand Automation Server 

(MIDAS) database” within three months of the regulation effective date, or by July 1, 2023. On June 1, 

2023, the CEC issued Order No. 23-0531-109 in response to a request for extension from the IOUs and 

Large CCAs. The Order approved an extension for CCAs to upload time-dependent generation rates by 

August 1, 2023, and remaining rate modifiers by October 1, 2023. Each uploaded rate is associated with a 

RIN, which is used to uniquely identify each permutation of rate and rate modifier. The MIDAS database 

will provide information about the rate and any associated marginal signals to which the customer may 

automate response for each associated RIN. Large CCAs are also required to upload any new time-

dependent rates or changes to existing rates prior to the effective date. All uploaded time-dependent 

rates must include all applicable time dependent cost components. 

3.1.1 Existing rates uploaded to MIDAS 
On July 25, 2023, Ava completed the upload of all its base rates to MIDAS, totaling 102 RINs. A message 

confirming successful upload was returned for each rate file loaded to MIDAS. Ava sent an email to CEC 

staff confirming successful MIDAS upload on July 31, 2023, and received acknowledgement from the CEC’s 

MIDAS Lead the same day.  

On October 1, 2023, Ava uploaded all remaining rate modifiers, such as PCIA vintage, associated with 

current time dependent rates. Ava notified CEC staff of the successful upload on October 1, 2023, and 

provided a spreadsheet tying RINs to rate modifier combinations upon request.  

3.1.2 New and updated rate uploads 
As discussed in2.1 section 2.2, Ava’s rates mirror PG&E’s, with a 5% discount or ¼ cent per kWh premium 

being applied depending on whether a customer takes service on Bright Choice or Renewable 100, 

respectively. As such, Ava rates change with every PG&E rate change, and new MIDAS uploads are 

required to account for these updates. For example, On Jan 25, 2023, Ava re-uploaded its rates to MIDAS 

to reflect PG&E’s Annual Electric True-Up (AET.) Going forward, Ava will continue to re-upload rates as 

needed. Ava will also upload new rates as new time-dependent rates or rate components are developed. 

Ava will follow a similar process to the successful existing rate uploads in 2023 and 2024. Ava will continue 

uploading all its rates per the API parameters established by the MIDAS API Process. 

3.2 Providing RINs to Customers 
Adopted LMS amendments section 1623(c)(4) requires each Large CCA to provide customers access to 

their RIN(s) on customer billing statements and online accounts using both text and quick response (“QR”) 

or similar machine-readable digital code. This access must be provided within one year of the regulation 

effective date, or by April 1, 2024.  

Ava creates RINs based on rate schedule, product (Bright Choice or Renewable 100), and PCIA vintage. 

Ava provides a mapping of rates to RINs to SMUD, who will then apply the correct RIN to each eligible 

customer’s bill. RINs are provided to PG&E via the EDI 810 transaction, and PG&E then converts the RIN 

to a QR code. The QR code will provide the RIN when scanned. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



Given that PG&E acts as the billing agent for Ava, the design, placement, and input for RINs on the bill by 

Ava is restricted. Nevertheless, Ava is collaborating with PG&E and SMUD to furnish RINs and customer 

information, facilitating their inclusion in the billing statement. Ava customers will see two RINs, one for 

the CCA-associated component(s) of their bill pertinent to their generation rates and another for the 

PG&E-associated component(s) of their bill related to transmission and distribution rates. There may be 

multiple RINs for customers with group bills and corrected billing. 

3.3 Single Statewide RIN Access Tool 
The LMS Amendments require Large IOUs, POUs, and CCAs to develop a Single Statewide Tool (“Statewide 

Tool”) that would enable third parties to: 

• Obtain RINs for individual customers 

• Provide average or annual bill estimates for eligible rates if the large IOU, POU, or CCA has an 

existing rate calculation tool 

• Switch customers to other rates for which a customer is eligible 

The Statewide Tool must incorporate reasonable and applicable cybersecurity measures, minimize 

enrollment barriers, and be accessible in a digital, machine-readable format. The Large IOUs, POUs, and 

CCAs must submit specifications for the tool’s development for adoption at a CEC Business Meeting by 

October 2024, and then implement and maintain the statewide tool thereafter.  

3.3.1 Resource commitment and implementation 
Ava has been actively engaged in the development of the Statewide Tool. Ava attended the first Statewide 

Tool meeting on September 20, 2023; represented CCAs at the Commissioner Workshop on Load 

Management Standards Implementation on January 17, 2024; and plans to continue participating in 

working group meetings with the regulated parties to help define and plan for the Statewide Tool 

specifications. 

Ava’s internal infrastructure will likely need to be updated to integrate with and support the tool. Ava has 

committed members of its Technology & Analytics and Public Policy teams to support the tool planning 

process but is unable to identify the full scope of integration work until the final tool specifications are 

approved. A more comprehensive review of infrastructure and staff needs will be conducted as the tool 

takes shape.  

As a CCA, Ava does not earn a rate of return on its infrastructure investments. Any costs incurred by Ava 

associated with developing the Statewide Tool would be spread among all Ava customers. A specific 

funding mechanism for tool development and operation has yet to be determined by the working group. 

3.3.2 Statewide tool considerations 
The development of the Statewide Tool will continue to require significant attention from all parties to 

ensure its effectiveness. Ava urges the Commission to convene further working groups or workshops with 

stakeholders to encourage collaboration. The following subject areas could be addressed during working 

groups/workshops: 

• How the Statewide Tool will integrate with MIDAS and the price machine being considered by the 

CPUC for integration of dynamic rates 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



• Barriers and/or or open questions regarding the Statewide Tool’s rate comparison and change 

features, including: 

o How to address different LSE’s treatment of rate modifiers in MIDAS 

o How to integrate existing rate change processes and comparison tools 

• Cybersecurity measures and the treatment of personally identifiable information 

• Cost recovery for tool development, operation, and maintenance 

• Processes for vendor selection for tool development, operation, and maintenance 

• How to ensure a seamless customer experience for both unbundled and bundled customers  

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



4 Dynamic Rates 

Overview of Current Time-Dependent Rates 
Ava's portfolio of time-dependent rates includes at least one time-dependent rate for nearly every 

customer class. Ava has five customer classes: residential, small and medium business, large commercial 

and industrial, agriculture, and lighting. Apart from street lighting and unmetered customers, all 

customers have access to Time-of-Use (“TOU”) rates and 72% of Ava customers, as defined by a meter, 

are on TOU rates. 97.5% of customers not on TOU rates are on E1. Please see the following table for details 

on Ava’s rates by customer class and the percentage of customers in that customer class on TOU rates. 

Table 1 Ava's Current Rates 

Customer Class Available TOU Rates3 Available Non-TOU Rates % on TOU Rates 

Residential • E-6 

• EM-TOU 

• E-TOU-B 

• E-TOU-C 

• E-TOU-D 

• EV2-A  

• EVA 

• EVB 

• E-ELEC 

• E-1  

Small and medium 
business 

• A-1X 

• A-10PX 

• A-10SX 

• A-10TX 

• A-6 

• B-1 

• B1-ST 

• B-6 

• B-10P 

• B-10S 

• B-10T 

• A-1 

• A-10P 

• A-10S 

• A-10T 

• A-15 

 

Large commercial and 
industrial 

• B-19P 

• B-19PR 

• B-19PS 

• B-19S 

• B-19SR 

• B-19SS 

• B-19SV 

• B-19T 

• B-19TR 

  

3 Ava has additional rate variants including legacy grandfathered rates, rates that vary with demand. CARE service is 
available on Schedules E-1, E-6, E-TOU-B, E-TOU-C, E-TOU-D, EV2, E-ELEC, and EM-TOU. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



• B-19TS 

• B-20P 

• B-20PR 

• B-20PS 

• B-20S 

• B-20SR 

• B-20SS 

• B-20T 

• B-20TR 

• B-20TS 

• BEV-1 

• BEV-2P 

• BEV-2S 

• E-19P 

• E-19PR 

• E-19S 

• E-19SR 

• E-19T 

• E-19TR 

• E-20P 

• E-20PR 

• E-20S 

• E-20SR 

• E-20T 

• E-20TR 

• E-37S 

Agriculture • AG-A1 

• AG-A2 

• AG-B 

• AG-C 

• AG-4A 

• AG-4B 

• AG-4C 

• AG-5A 

• AG-5B 

• AG-5C 

• AG-5D 

• AG-FA 

• AG-FB 

• AG-FC 

• AG-RA 

• AG-RB 

• AG-1A 

• AG-1B 

•  

 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



• AG-VA 

• AG-VB 

Lighting   • LS-1 

• LS-2 

• LS-3 

• TC-1 

 

4.1.1 Residential Rates 
Ava’s E-TOU-C is the standard rate for residential customers. Residential customers pay different rates 

depending on the season and time of use period, summarized in the table below. These time periods align 

with Ava’s highest peak loads and marginal electricity prices, while also being simple and easy for 

customers to understand. 

Table 2 E-TOU-C Time-Of-Use Periods 

Time-Of-Use Periods Hours 

On-Peak 4 – 9 pm every day 

Off-Peak All other times  

Ava's other TOU rates provide options for customers in terms of difference in peak and off-peak periods 

to shift energy use. In May 2021, residential Alameda County customers were transitioned from the flat 

E-1 rate to TOU-C. Tracy customers were transitioned in April 2022. Ava provided bill protection credits 

to customers who fared worse on E-TOUC than they would have on E-1. Only 18,755 (~9%) Ava customers 

received credit; the vast majority of customers financially benefited from switching to E-TOUC.  

Ava's EV2-A is the standard rate for residential customers that charge their EVs at home. This rate 

encourages customers to charge their EVs during off-peak times when energy is abundant and energy 

prices are low. 

4.1.2 Non-Residential Rates 
Ava's B-1 is the standard rate for small and medium commercial customers. Ava’s B-19S is the standard 

rate for medium/large commercial customers. Ava’s AG-A1 is the standard rate for agriculture customers. 

All these rates are similar in concept to residential TOU rates, except there are additional demand charges. 

Non-residential customers have been offered TOU rates for a much longer period than residential 

customers. Non-residential customers were required to transition to updated TOU rates that align with 

today’s energy availability in March 2021. 

4.2 Ava’s Rate Development Process 
Community Choice Aggregators (CCAs) governing boards have jurisdictional control over rate setting on 

behalf of their customers. Public Utilities Code Section 366.2(c)(3) provides that that CCAs retain 

jurisdiction for setting rates for the electricity they purchase on behalf of their communities. This local 

control empowers CCAs to tailor energy programs, determine pricing structures, and prioritize renewable 

energy sources according to the preferences and goals of the communities they serve. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



4.2.1 Rate Review and Setting Process 
Ava staff must receive Board approval to revise the service level value propositions (e.g. offering a greater 

or lesser discount on Bright Choice.) The rate review and setting process is as follows: 

1. Executive Committee meeting. Staff will provide a staff report containing analysis of PG&E rates 

and preliminary recommendations for changes to EBCE’s value proposition, if any. 

2. Community workshops. Based on feedback received at the Executive Committee meeting, staff 

will revise analysis if needed, and solicit comments from the community. This will be achieved 

through three (3) community meetings in geographically diverse locations. Staff will consolidate 

feedback from these meetings into a supporting document that will be presented to the Board. 

Written comments will be accepted in lieu of, or in addition to, verbal comments made during 

these workshops. A specific email address will be provided to the public to submit comments, 

along with a clear deadline for submittal. 

3. Community Advisory Committee (CAC) meeting. The CAC will receive a presentation from staff and 

discuss the staff recommendation.  

4. Board meeting. Staff will present analysis, findings, and recommendations derived from feedback 

from an Executive Committee meeting, Community Workshops, and a Community Advisory 

Committee meeting. The Board will have the opportunity to vote on staff recommendations. If 

the Board requests further analysis, the process will return to the Executive Committee. The 

Executive Committee can then make a final recommendation that will be brought to the next 

Board meeting. 

4.2.2 Ava Value Proposition 
Ava Staff is authorized to adjust Ava’s rates to maintain the approved value proposition for each service 

level. If there are changes to PG&E generation rates or fees that result in a more beneficial value 

proposition for customers, Ava Staff is authorized to not adjust the rates. The following table 

demonstrates Ava’s value proposition over time: 

Table 3 Ava Value Proposition Over Time 

Product June 2018 July 2020 January 2022 July 2022 July 2023 
(Current) 

Bright Choice 1.5% below 
PG&E 

1% below PG&E 3% below 
PG&E 

5% below 
PG&E 

Renewable 
100 

1 ¢ per kWh above PG&E ¾ ¢ per kWh 
above PG&E 

¼ ¢ per kWh 
above PG&E 

Brilliant 100 Parity to PG&E Closed as opt-
up option 

Discontinued for 
all customers 

  

Rate Implementation 
Aligned with objectives of Ava’s value proposition, to ensure that any new rate will be successful, cost 

effective, and beneficial to its customers, Ava may engage in the following proactive measures: 

• Conducting pilots to determine the effectiveness of different rate options and reception by 

customers. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



• Developing and implementing iterative outreach and education campaigns. 

• Developing and implementing new education tools, such as rate comparison tools and reports. 

After rate implementation, Ava would be committed to monitoring the rate's effectiveness with respect 

to shifting peak load and customer feedback. 

4.3 Evaluation of New Dynamic Rates 
Consistent with the LMS Amendments,4 the following section of the Plan evaluates the cost-effectiveness, 

equity, technological feasibility, and benefits of dynamic rates for each customer class. This Plan provides 

that new dynamic rates would be implemented on the schedule specified in the LMS Amendments, which 

includes applying for Board approval of at least one dynamic rate by July 1, 2025, and offering voluntary 

participation in dynamic rates to all customers by July 1, 2027, where such a rate is determined to 

materially reduce peak load cost effectively. 

Ava does not currently have sufficient information to conclude that proposing and implementing dynamic 

rates would be cost effective or provide benefits to Ava customers. Significant uncertainties exist related 

to the level of incremental load shift potential, customer response to market price risks, customer 

acceptance and adoption of a complex new rate design, the administrative costs of dynamic rate 

implementation, and potential cost shifts between participants and non-participants.  

To address these uncertainties, Ava is considering participating in dynamic pricing pilots and rates with 

PG&E.5 See Table 4 below for a breakdown of the pilots and rates Ava is considering. These pilots and 

rates are not yet finalized by PG&E.  Ava will make a final decision on participation when pilot and rates 

are in their final form.  Ava will re-evaluate the proposal of dynamic rates in the next update of this plan 

with the benefit of additional information from pilots.  

 

  

4 ‘The plan must evaluate cost effectiveness, equity, technological feasibility, benefits to the grid, and benefits to 
customers of marginal cost-based rates for each customer class.”  20 CCR 1623.1(a)(1)(A). 
5 Participation is subject to Board approval. Ava staff plan to bring participation to the Board for voting in April 2024. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



Table 4 Dynamic Rates and Rate Pilots 

 DAHRTP BEV  
DAHRTP 
Export  

DAHRTP 
Com/Res  

Vehicle-Grid 
Integration  

Expanded 
Pilot 1 

Expanded 
Pilot 2 

Type Rate Pilot Pilot Pilot Pilot Pilot 

Eligibility BEV  Non-Nem BEV 
B-20, B- 19, B-
6, E-ELEC 

EV2-A, E-ELEC, 
B6, B10, B19, 
B20 

AG-A1, AG-B, 
AG-C 

B-6, B-10, B-
19, B-20, E-
ELEC, EV2-A 

Regulatory 
Authorization D.21-11-017 D.22-10-024 D.22-08-022 

Resolution E-
5192 D.24-01-032 D.24-01-032 

Targeted start 
date Feb 28 2025 Feb 28 2025 Feb 28 2025 Sept 2024 June 2024 June 2024 

Generation 
Import 

MEC, MGCC, 
RNA 

MEC, MGCC, 
RNA 

MEC, MGCC, 
RNA MEC, MGCC MEC, MGCC MEC, MGCC 

Generation 
Export None MEC, MGCC None MEC, MGCC None None 

Distribution Same as OAT 
See DAHRTP 
BEV Same as OAT 

Primary 
distribution 
capacity costs 

Hourly 
dynamic 
delivery 
capacity 
charges. Line 
losses 
recovered 
through 
volumetric 
rates. 

Hourly 
dynamic 
delivery 
capacity 
charges. Line 
losses 
recovered 
through 
volumetric 
rates. 

Transmission Same as OAT 
See DAHRTP 
BEV Same as OAT Same as OAT 

Demand 
charges 

Monthly 
subscription 
charges 

See DAHRTP 
BEV Same as OAT Same as OAT 

4.3.1 Cost-Effectiveness 
The first evaluation factor specified in section 1623.1(a)(1)(A) is cost effectiveness. Ava does not currently 

have data to undertake, much less support, a finding that dynamic rates are cost-effective. Ava will 

conduct an analysis of the estimated costs and benefits to Ava and its customers once results from the 

rates and pilots in Table 4 are available, including reviewing results from other Load Serving Entities 

across the State. Furthermore, the LMS Amendments do not specify which cost effectiveness test (e.g. 

participant cost test, total resource cost test, societal cost test, etc.) should be used, nor do they provide 

clarity on what costs or benefits should be considered. Pending receipt of data from the above-listed 

pilots, and in the absence of any methodological guidance from the LMS Amendments, Ava can provide 

only a qualitative discussion of cost-effectiveness considerations, including estimated costs and potential 

benefits.  

4.3.1.1 Estimated Costs 

Significant investment in planning, customer education and marketing, and technology development is 

required to implement new rates for all customer classes, particularly rates that are far more complex 

than those currently available. Ava has identified the following cost categories associated with 

implementing dynamic rates: 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



• Rate design costs would include the costs of initial market research, implementing pilots to test 

rate options, and analyzing the results of those pilots to refine the final design. Once pilots are 

complete and evaluation data is analyzed, the final rate recommendation needs to be designed. 

• Setup costs include coordinating with external vendors and PG&E on Information Technology 

system updates to enable settlement over new intervals, data integration, updating the bill 

presentment to reflect these intervals, and developing new or updating existing customer tools. 

Having tools available for customers to self-service and monitor their costs and usage will be 

important for success with hourly rates. 

• Recruitment and retention costs include marketing and enrollment costs. Ava anticipates spending 

significant time educating customers through an extensive, phased marketing campaign and 

targeted outreach in a variety of languages. This effort will only be successful if significant time 

and funds are invested. Shifting to complex hourly rates while maintaining a positive customer 

experience – which is key for adoption and longer-term retention of the rate – will require 

informing and educating customers to, at a minimum, understand and monitor hourly rates, 

energy market dynamics, pricing, and temperature trends that may significantly impact their bills. 

Ava anticipates the above costs to make a dynamic rate available are fixed and do not vary by load, 

electricity usage, or enrollment level. While Ava does not currently have pilot results to inform 

implementation costs, Ava estimates significant resources to develop, implement, and maintain hourly 

rates for customers will be required. Depending on the scope of the costs, implementing complex new 

rates may necessitate a rate increase for all customers to bring in additional revenue. 

Potential Benefits to Ava 

This section of the Plan describes the potential benefits associated with implementing new dynamic rates 

and the estimated realization of incremental benefits based on design effectiveness, adoption levels, and 

additional load shift capacity available to be captured. 

4.3.1.1.1 Potential Benefits 

Ava has identified the primary potential benefits to Ava as being avoided costs. More specifically the 

following: 

• Avoided capacity costs, resulting from a reduction for new capacity additions or resource 

adequacy procurement. 

• Avoided energy costs, resulting from shifting demand from higher-cost periods to lower-cost 

periods. 

Secondary benefits can also flow from the realization of avoided capacity and energy procurement needs. 

For example, to the extent that load shifting reduces the need for new capacity and wholesale energy 

purchases during peak periods, these reductions can also contribute to the following: 

• Avoided transmission and distribution in the form of reduced need for capital investments to 

deliver energy during peak periods. 

• Avoided GHG compliance costs associated with a reduction in generating or purchasing energy 

from fossil -fueled resources that may otherwise be needed to serve load during peak periods. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



• Improved air quality, public health, and environmental outcomes associated with a reduction in 

operations of fossil-fueled resources. While these benefits do not accrue directly to Ava, they 

provide value on a societal basis. 

It is important to note that because dynamic rates are designed to only recover the marginal cost of 

service at a given time, any potential cost savings would be entirely passed through to participating 

customers. For example, any reductions in Ava’s generation and capacity procurement costs resulting 

from customers shifting their load to hours with lower marginal energy or capacity costs would be 

accompanied by an equal reduction in the revenue recovered from those customers during those hours 

relative to existing tariffs.  

4.3.1.1.2 Realization of Benefits 

As a retail electric service provider and a CCA, Ava anticipates that the greatest potential direct benefits 

would be derived from avoided capacity and energy procurement costs. However, the realization of any 

of the above-identified benefits from new dynamic rates is highly dependent on the following several 

factors: 

• The effectiveness of the rate design in shifting customer usage patterns. 

• The operational value of the load shift. 

• The adoption levels of the new rates. 

• The customer experience on the new rate. 

In addition, with respect to avoided GHG compliance costs and improved air quality, public health, and 

environmental outcomes, the realization of benefits also depends on the relative utilization of fossil-

fueled resources to serve peak load versus periods of lower demand. A discussion of each factor’s 

expected effect on the benefits attributable to developing new dynamic rates is detailed in the next 

section of the Plan. 

4.3.1.1.2.1 Estimated Design Effectiveness 

Effective rate design is necessary to achieve predictable load shift during the most valuable peak hours of 

the day. The risk of not having sufficient generation, which spurs the need for new capacity additions or 

resource adequacy procurement, is typically concentrated in a small number of peak hours each year 

when serving peak load is most challenging. Accordingly, to realize any avoided capacity benefits, it is 

vitally important that a new rate design can achieve consistent and meaningful load reductions during 

those peak hours. Reducing capacity and energy procurement during peak periods relies on consistent 

shift in demand patterns. 

Time to develop and test the effectiveness of rate design options will be especially important when 

shifting to a complex new rate structure that could include several price signal changes within a peak 

period or even within an hour. If customers do not understand the signals or the time periods during 

which they are provided, their response may not be predictable, leading to reduced efficacy and 

potentially adverse bill impacts. Ava’s ideal dynamic rate development process would include market 

research, testing the effectiveness of different rate options through pilots, analyzing the results, and 

considering refinements before proposing a rate. Completing these steps helps to ensure that the rate 

sends the right signals and takes into consideration customers’ willingness to respond either directly or 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



via automated technologies/devices while fully recognizing that the process can take significant time and 

resources. 

The LMS Amendments direct Large CCAs to propose new dynamic rates for every customer class to the 

Board by July 1, 2025. That timeline does not provide sufficient time for Ava to gain results from the 

dynamic rates and rate pilots, review results from other Large CCAs, test responses to different rate 

options, and analyze the results, and design a rate for even one rate class. In addition, the dynamic rate 

pilots have been delayed and results of those studies may not be available before July 1, 2025. Without 

the results from pilots, Ava cannot conclude that a complex new rate design would result in any 

incremental, dependable load shift or ensure a positive customer experience for any of its customers. 

4.3.1.1.2.2 Estimated Adoption Level 

The estimated adoption level of new hourly dynamic rates directly impacts the value of load shift benefits. 

Based on available information, Ava anticipates that dynamic rates rolled out to customers by July 1, 2027, 

would likely have low adoption and retention levels. Ava’s assumption is based on several key factors and 

studies, including the uncertainty in bill impacts from complex new rate structures, the time needed to 

educate customers to promote a positive experience, and the cost and limited accessibility of enabling 

behind-the-meter automation technology. 

• Bill savings are a significant driver for customer rate adoption. The predictability of bill impacts 

gives customers the assurance of how they can leverage a rate to see bill savings. With dynamic 

rates, customers take on additional risk of price fluctuations, which may not be sustainable in the 

long term. 

• One method of mitigating the uncertainty of bill impacts from new dynamic rates is to fully 

educate and inform customers. Ava is dedicated to a culture of delivering the best possible 

customer experience when transitioning customers from one rate structure to another or when 

offering optional rates. Limited time to engage and educate customers on new complex hourly 

rates, and the potential benefits and risks associated with participation, may lead to confusion 

about bill impacts and low uptake. Customer experience is a priority for Ava, so negative 

experiences may have an unintended negative impact to the brand and act as a deterrence on 

current and future initiatives. 

• Realizing the benefits of dynamic rates is dependent on customers’ ability to access and adopt 

enabling technology. There are challenges and uncertainties associated with utilizing these 

devices for grid services, as further discussed in Section 5.2.1.2.2. Ava expects that limited 

adoption of the needed technology would translate to limited benefits from dynamic rates, but 

accessibility of customer-owned automated devices that allow for response to hourly or sub- 

hourly signals is a near-term constraint. 

Research conducted by PG&E on dynamic pricing shows that residential customers have a strong 

preference for TOU rates over dynamic pricing, and that customers who understand dynamic pricing 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



better are not necessarily more likely to adopt dynamic pricing. PG&E also found that most surveyed large 

commercial and industrial customers prefer TOU and peak day pricing over dynamic rates.6 

4.3.1.1.2.3 Estimated Incremental Load Shift Capability 

The primary potential benefits of dynamic rates are based on reducing peak load and associated avoided 

wholesale energy costs, which may carry additional benefits associated with reduced transmission and 

distribution costs, reduced GHG compliance costs, and improved air quality, public health, and 

environmental outcomes. Ava’s existing time-dependent rates and existing and planned load flexibility 

programs are designed to capture these same benefits and to create a customer-centric experience, which 

is simple and easy-to-understand and have been supported with extensive customer outreach and 

education. Any incremental benefits associated with implementing dynamic rates rely on achieving 

incremental load shift relative to Ava’s existing rates and planned new programs. The following 

summarizes the current load shift capability of Ava’s existing rates and planned new programs and 

potential incremental load shift opportunities. 

• Ava’s TOU rate structures mirror PG&E’s rates and were designed to shift peak time periods 

energy use to off peak periods, thus reducing grid stress and resulting in financial benefits from 

combined energy and capacity savings. 

• Ava has a collection of existing and planned load flexibility and demand response programs that 

assist customers in optimizing DERs to reduce consumption during peak times. These programs 

complement Ava’s existing TOU rate structure and provide additional load shift benefit. Ava’s 

programs and pilots are discussed further in Section 5.1. 

• Ava does not yet have pilot data to evaluate more complex dynamic rate options in which hourly 

market price risk is passed directly to the customers. Without the benefit of pilot results and given 

the inherent complexity of new dynamic rates coupled with the risk of adverse bill impacts, and 

the existence of more customer-friendly TOU rates and planned new programs, Ava cannot 

conclude that such dynamic rates would likely result in incremental load shift benefits. 

4.3.1.2 Discussion 

Based on the evaluation of available information, Ava cannot conclude that implementing dynamic rates 

for any customer class would be cost-effective. There are significant uncertainties both in the magnitude 

of value that can be captured and Ava’s ability to realize the value based on design efficacy, how 

customers would react to hourly market risks, and expected adoption levels. According to the whitepaper, 

Time-Varying and Dynamic Rate Design, authored by the Regulatory Assistance Project (“RAP”) and the 

Brattle Group,7 real-time/dynamic pricing presents high rewards but also high risks. A 2004 Lawrence 

Berkley National Laboratory whitepaper concludes that most dynamic rate programs in the early 2000s, 

implemented across the country, did not achieve significant level of participation. Another takeaway from 

6 PG&E presented this research at supplementary working groups in the CPUC’s Demand Flexibility proceeding. 
Slides summarizing these results were made available to stakeholders participating in the Demand Flexibility 
proceeding.  
7 Time-Varying and Dynamic Rate Design, RAP and the Brattle Group, July 2012, page 17. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



the survey is that although many customers on dynamic rates are price responsive, a substantial fraction 

are not.8 

Significant changes are occurring in the rate and program landscape, including a shift to battery energy 

storage systems, implementation of the net billing tariff, the adoption of an income-graduated fixed 

charge, and the implementation of programs that incentivize customers to reduce demand during 

emergency events, such as the Emergency Load Reduction Program and critical peak pricing. The 

combination of multiple concurrent rate variables can make evaluating dynamic rate and demand 

flexibility difficult. Isolating and quantifying the benefits of just dynamic rates becomes a challenge, and 

these overlapping efforts complicate signaling a customer to change energy use behavior and may 

increase development costs. For example, introducing fixed charges, such as the income-graduated fix 

charge, dilutes the hourly variability that dynamic rates are trying to reflect. 

Until pilot results provide data with which to perform a comprehensive analysis, Ava cannot readily 

ascertain rate development costs, estimated customer benefits, or whether those benefits would be likely 

to offset costs. Ava will continue to gather information to inform evaluation of future rate and program 

designs. As data becomes available from pilots, Ava anticipates exploring cost-effectiveness analyses 

and/or quantifying the estimates provided in this section of the Plan. 

4.3.2 Equity 
The second criterion by which to evaluate dynamic rates is equity. Without pilot study data to support 

quantifying load shift and bill impacts for different customer groups, Ava will discuss qualitative equity 

considerations stemming from dynamic rates.  

The ability to directly benefit from a dynamic rate depends on several factors, such as access to enabling 

technology, ability to shift load away from high-cost periods, and ability to benefit from the rate and 

absorb potential bill shocks. 

• The ability to participate in a dynamic rate depends upon customers’ access to technology with 

specific characteristics that enable response to hourly or sub-hourly price signals. Currently, the 

high upfront cost of this technology may pose a limitation for low-income customers. Ava is 

exploring different incentive programs and developing strategies to help further broaden access. 

• The ability to quickly shift load away from high-priced peak periods will affect whether 

participating customers can achieve cost savings under a dynamic rate. As market signals would 

be dynamic with potentially very large changes in prices between hours, customers that cannot 

or do not adopt and/or utilize and embrace enabling technology could see very large bill impacts. 

• Participating customers on a dynamic rate run the risk of bill shocks if they are unable to shift load 

away from high-priced peak hours. Customers who face greater barriers in implementing enabling 

technology are likely to be most exposed and least able to absorb potential bill shocks. 

Discussion 

Based on the evaluation of available information, Ava cannot conclude that implementing dynamic rates 

would result in any equity benefits. The availability of such rates is likely to disproportionately benefit 

8 A survey of Utility Experience with Real Time Pricing, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory and Neenan 
Associates, December 2004, ES-4 and ES-6. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



higher-income customers, who tend to be early adopters of technology, and who can most readily absorb 

the risk of bill shocks. For example, A study on the distributional implications dynamic rate 

implementation in Spain, where dynamic rates have been broadly rolled out as the default option for 

households, found that dynamic rates are slightly regressive due to differences in household consumption 

profiles. 9 

As with any new rate or program, the implementation of dynamic rates creates an opportunity for cost 

shifting. To develop and implement dynamic rates, Ava would incur costs, including those discussed in 

section 4.3.1.1. These costs would be recovered from all customers. As discussed in section 4.3.1.2.1, 

potential savings in energy and capacity costs would be directly passed through to participating 

customers. As such, Ava anticipates that the implementation of dynamic pricing would result in a cost 

shift from participants to non-participants. This cost shift would likely be regressive, as Ava anticipates 

that higher-income customers would be more likely to benefit from and thus more likely to adopt dynamic 

rates.  

It is critical to analyze pilot study results to accurately quantify the magnitude and uncertainty of these 

equity impacts, including the level of acceptance and adoption of dynamic, hourly or sub-hourly rates 

from customers of different income levels. 

4.3.3 Technological Feasibility 
Technological feasibility is the third evaluation factor for dynamic rates. Ava’s evaluation assesses the 

technological feasibility of implementing dynamic rates for all customers on the schedule specified in the 

LMS requirements and considers the feasibility of both the technology systems needed to support 

implementation of dynamic rates and to the external customer technology that is needed to enable 

response to hourly or sub-hourly signals. As the Meter Data Management Agent (“MDMA”) for Ava’s 

customers, PG&E is in control of and responsible for a significant portion of the technology systems’ 

updates and rollout required to implement dynamic rates that overlap both organization’s service areas. 

IOU and CCA Technology Systems 

The primary technology systems needed to support dynamic rates include advanced metering 

infrastructure (“AMI”), Ava’s Customer Relationship Management Salesforce implementation, Ava, 

SMUD, and PG&E’s billing infrastructure, online customer rate databases such as MIDAS, and automation 

technologies that can allow for responsive equipment. The following provides a feasibility assessment of 

each technology component: 

• PG&E’s meters can provide hourly interval usage data for residential customers and sub-hourly 

interval data for non-residential customers; however, the data currently shared via ShareMyData 

with CCAs is not of “billing quality” meaning that some data may be missing or incorrect. As such, 

PG&E CCAs cannot currently for hourly rates. PG&E has committed to upgrading its billing 

infrastructure by 2027 which will enable the provision of billing quality interval data to CCAs. 

Regardless, an assessment of the AMI network communication infrastructure is likely to be 

required to identify if additional equipment needs to be installed to support the increased 

volume. Ava will coordinate with PG&E to avoid any disruptions to customers. 

• Ava will coordinate with PG&E regarding any necessary billing system and billing presentation 

configuration changes. Ava anticipates it will be necessary to develop enhancements to PG&E’s 

9 The Distributional Impacts of Real Time Pricing, Michael Cahana et.al, October 2022, page 4. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



online tools and services to help customers understand any new rates and rate changes 

holistically. 

• Ava maintains an update Customer Relationship Management Salesforce implementation that 

represents all customer characteristics including customer identifiers (e.g., account id, service 

agreement ids, daxref values), rates, customer sectors, addresses, program participation, and 

solar ownership, and many other customer characteristics.  

• Updating existing customer tools and developing new tools would be key to supporting a positive 

customer experience when implementing dynamic rates. Ava will engage not only with external 

vendors on relevant existing tools but also PG&E to assess the technological feasibility of and 

timeframes necessary to develop and/or modify existing tools to support dynamic rates. 

In sum, Ava anticipates that collaboration and coordination with PG&E, SMUD, and external vendors will 

be critical to successfully implementing dynamic rates. Ava will work with parties to assess enhancements, 

upgrades, and additional functionality that will be needed to ensure the optimal benefits realization of 

dynamic controls and a positive customer experience. 

Enabling Customer Technology 

The potential incremental benefits of dynamic rates depend on customer participation and the 

widespread Availability of devices and technology that can support real time response to hourly or sub-

hourly price signals. Ava is in the process of assessing technologies with this kind of capability to include 

in future customer programs. The following is a list of common load flexibility technologies in Ava’s service 

area. Ava anticipates these same technologies would be needed to respond to new dynamic rates. 

• Wi-fi enabled smart thermostats are the most widely adopted load flexibility technology. These 

devices can receive and respond to dispatch signals within 15-30 minutes.  

• Battery energy storage systems are being adopted with increasing frequency by both residential 

and non-residential customers, particularly as an add-on to solar photo-voltaic (“PV”) 

installations. Batteries can be dispatched on a shorter notice, and Ava has existing and planned 

programs designed to accelerate this adoption and optimize dispatch for the greatest peak load 

reductions. 

• Air conditioning (“AC”) switches are one of the oldest distributed resource technologies and have 

been deployed since the 1970s. These switches are included in various demand flexibility 

programs across the utilities and CCAs. 

• Electric vehicles (“EVs”) are an emerging source of load flexibility. There is significant potential for 

further growth given statewide goals for zero emissions vehicles by 2030.  

• Heat pump hot water heaters (HPHWs) are increasingly being adopted in California and in Ava’s 

service area. HPHWs can be managed to both avoid heating or preheating water during specific 

time intervals. 

Ava’s existing and planned demand flexibility programs and participation in the dynamic pilots will 

improve understanding of how to most effectively engage with customers with behind-the-meter devices, 

considering different technologies, customer needs and preferences, and other factors. Ava also 

anticipates that these programs will help increase the acceptance and adoption levels of enabling 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



technologies as well as testing their response to price signals. The results of these programs will inform 

future consideration of dynamic rates. 

4.3.3.1 Discussion 

Based on the evaluation of available information, Ava believes the technology exists to implement some 

level of dynamic rates. However, the extent of capabilities of enabling behind-the-meter device 

technology, along with the impacts on customer experience, are still being tested and developed. Ava 

believes that reassessing the technological feasibility of dynamic rates after evaluating pilot study results 

and future programs would better inform the likelihood of positive customer acceptance and material 

load shift benefits. 

Ava anticipates coordination with PG&E, SMUD, and external vendors on implementing any necessary 

changes to internal systems, with the necessary infrastructure deployments and system configuration 

implementations. Additional time to enhance the billing experience, develop customer tools, and 

enhance DER functionality and control would create a better experience, improve the likelihood of 

4.3.4 Benefits to the Grid and Customers 
The final two evaluation criteria specified by the LMS Amendments are benefits to the grid and benefits 

to customers. Ava evaluates the two factors simultaneously because many benefits to the grid also have 

pass-through benefits to customers. Ava’s evaluation of each benefit considers the expected effectiveness 

of the rate design, the expected adoption rate, and the incremental benefits relative to Ava’s existing 

time-dependent rates and load flexibility programs. The following is a summary of anticipated grid and 

customer benefits associated with implementation of new dynamic rates on the timeframe specified in 

the LMS requirements. 

• Avoided capacity needs. Realizing the incremental benefits of avoided capacity costs, in the form 

of reduced need to construct new generation capacity or procure resource adequacy (RA), 

depends significantly on an effective rate design that delivers meaningful, dependable load shift 

in response to hourly or sub-hourly signals. Shifting demand away from peak periods also has the 

potential to relieve grid strain and contribute to reliability. As further discussed throughout this 

Plan, Ava is unable to conclude at this time that implementing dynamic rates would result in 

incremental capacity cost savings, given the uncertainty around design effectiveness, adoption 

levels, and the magnitude of load shift potential beyond the benefits already provided by Ava’s 

time-dependent rates and load flexibility programs. 

• Avoided energy procurement costs. Similarly, realizing the incremental benefits of avoided energy 

costs relies on a rate design that effectively encourages customers to shift from high-cost (high 

GHG) periods to lower cost (low GHG) periods. This allows for more efficient use of cheaper solar 

energy when it is generated and reduces the higher costs of energy associated with serving peak 

load. However, as previously discussed, Ava cannot conclude that implementing dynamic rates 

would result in incremental avoided energy costs. 

• Avoided transmission and distribution needs. As many load flexibility rates and programs are still 

in pilot, the extent to which they can alleviate stress on the transmission and distribution systems 

and potentially defer or reduce the need for capacity upgrades is still uncertain. Because Ava 

cannot at this time conclude that dynamic rates would result in incremental avoided capacity 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



costs on the implementation schedule specified in the LMS regulation, it cannot conclude that 

any transmission or distribution cost savings would be likely to materialize. 

• Avoided GHG costs. To the extent that dynamic rates can shift energy use from time periods in 

which fossil fueled resources serve load to time periods with greater renewable energy 

generation, there is the potential for reduced costs to Ava (and thereby its customers) associated 

with the cost of GHG emissions. Ava incurs GHG compliance costs associated with procurement 

of thermal power and some out-of-state energy imports. In addition, the cost of carbon is 

incorporated into the price of any energy that purchased through CAISO markets. Reducing Ava’s 

thermal procurement and/or limiting market purchases when the grid has a greater carbon 

intensity can save costs for Ava and its customers. However, any incremental GHG cost savings 

depend on the realization of incremental reductions in capacity needs and/or in energy purchases 

during high-cost/high-emitting periods. Because Ava is unable to conclude at this time that 

implementing dynamic rates would result in material incremental load shift, any GHG cost savings 

benefits are also uncertain. In addition, as Ava pursues implementation of its plan to reach 100% 

renewable procurement by 2030, Ava anticipates increasingly less difference between the GHG 

emissions profiles of resources serving its customers during the peak and in periods of lower 

demand. 

• Improved air quality, public health, and environmental outcome. As with avoided GHG cost 

savings, the potential air quality, public health, and environmental benefits associated with 

dynamic rates depend on such rates reducing the capacity needs or energy purchases during time 

periods when the grid has a higher carbon intensity. However, as discussed above, Ava cannot 

conclude at this time that a material incremental increase in these benefits will accrue on the 

timeline specified in the LMS regulation. In addition, as noted above, the difference in the 

emissions profile of resources serving load at times of peak or load demand should decrease as 

Ava implements its plan to reach 100% renewable procurement by 2030. 

• Customer bill impacts. With dynamic rates, customers have the potential to save money by 

shifting their usage out of the most expensive hours. However, there are risks to dynamic rates, 

even if customers can largely rely on device automation to manage their demand. Ava locks in 

prices for most of the power it anticipates needing, effectively providing a hedge for customer 

energy costs. With dynamic rates, customers take on a greater risk of market price fluctuations, 

which could have severe impacts on customer bills especially during times of extreme market 

volatility. There will be times when prices are high for an extended period of time. During such 

times, customers may not be able to rely on their enabling technology or adjust their usage 

enough to prevent excessively large bills. Residential customers cannot simply stop using 

electricity, nor can commercial customers stop operating for an extended period of time to avoid 

a large electric bill driven by spikes in energy prices. Bill protection can reduce customer-facing 

risk but can also reduce a dynamic rate’s ability to incentivize load shifting. 

4.3.4.1 Discussion 

Based on the evaluation of available information, Ava is unable to conclude that implementing dynamic 

rates on the timeframe specified in the adopted LMS amendments would yield material incremental 

benefits to the grid or to customers. Ava’s current time-dependent rates and load flexibility programs are 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



designed to capture a significant portion of potential peak load shift benefits. Any incremental benefits 

associated with dynamic rates that enable response on sub-hourly signals are uncertain. 

The aforementioned Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory white paper emphasized that sufficient 

resources must be devoted to developing and implementing a customer education program and 

customers need help understanding and managing price risk.10 

Another team of Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory researchers interviewed 29 customers in the 

Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation service territory with day-ahead dynamic prices in 2004. The study 

specified that reasons customers gave for why they were not price-responsive included implicit value 

placed on reliability, pricing structures, lack of flexibility in adjusting production inputs, just-in-time 

practices, perceived barriers to onsite generation, and insufficient time.11 

Therefore, a premature introduction of dynamic rates may cause confusion and shift additional market 

price risk onto customers, creating a negative customer experience that may hinder adoption of both the 

new rate and longer-term load flexibility initiatives. A hurried implementation of a complex and untested 

dynamic rate structure is likely to result in costs, rather than benefits, to the grid and to customers. 

4.3.5 Compliance Approach 
Ava plans to continue offering its existing portfolio of time-dependent rates. Ava also plans to implement 
new load flexibility programs and participate in dynamic rate pilots that will help the organization better 
understand how best to engage with behind-the-meter customer devices. With additional information 
and results, Ava can consider developing a dynamic rate pilot rate for one or more customer classes in the 
future.  
 
Based on the results of this evaluation, Ava will defer developing and proposing adoption of new dynamic 
rates beyond July 1, 2025, and offering voluntary participation in any such rates beyond July 1, 2027. 
Based on available information, Ava cannot conclude that proposing and implementing dynamic rates, as 
proposed in the LMS requirements’ timeline, would be cost-effective, provide equity benefits, be 
technologically feasible, and/or or yield any cost savings or emissions-related benefits to the grid and to 
customers. The risks of premature implementation can adversely impact participating customers’ bills, 
the overall customer experience, and even Ava’s image and reputation.  
 
Ava plans to reassess the timeline for proposing and implementing dynamic rates no later than the 

triennial review of the Plan. The Plan review will also include potential updates to qualitative and 

quantitative evaluations for cost-effectiveness, equity, technological feasibility, and benefits to the grid 

and to customers. 

 

10 A Survey of Utility Experience with Real Time Pricing, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory and Neenan 
Associates, December 2004, ES-9.  
11 Real Time Pricing and the Real Live Firm, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, August 2004, page 1.  

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



5 Load Flexibility Programs 

Overview of Current Load Flexibility Programs 
Load flexibility is a key strategy in helping Ava achieve its 100 percent renewable energy goal, by enabling 

customers to be part of the strategy in reducing procurement needs. Ava is focused on establishing and 

offering new load management programs because they are simple, effective, flexible, and potentially 

allow Ava to make rapid progress in unlocking peak load reduction potential. Ava is working to innovate 

with technology, software, and hardware providers to advance functionalities that will enable broad 

participation and optimize potential resources to deliver the maximum benefit for customers and the grid. 

When designing programs, Ava strives to tailor its offers to specific customer segments and/or needs to 

maximize responsiveness beyond just price alone. Ava analyzes data to identify the intersection of the 

greatest potential for mutual benefits to customers and to Ava to inform program development. A 

segment of Ava’s portfolio of existing and planned programs will, in time, center around an overarching 

Distributed Energy Resource Management (“DERMS”) that will enable dispatch for a range of load 

flexibility program offerings, which may include residential, C&I, and agricultural customer classes. In the 

near term, Ava is developing specific offerings related to residential load flexibility and electric vehicle 

managed charging. The following section of the Plan provides a list of planned programs offerings that 

will test for reliability, load reduction, and customer adoption. 

5.1.1 Resilient Home 
Ava launched the Resilient Home program in 2020 with the primary goal of providing backup power to 

single and multifamily residential homeowners facing rolling blackouts or Public Safety Power Shutoff 

(PSPS) events. Under the program, Ava partners with solar company Sunrun, which assists customers with 

installing behind-the-meter solar and battery systems and provides an option for financing the systems. 

Ava selected Sunrun through a competitive solicitation and the Program provides incentives to customers 

that allow Ava to dispatch the batteries every weekday during the evening peak hours. 

Through Resilient Home, Ava has been developing a portfolio of load modifying resources over the last 

two years. With over 1,200 residential solar and storage systems under management, Ava delivers real, 

ongoing peak load management every day, including on CAISO peak days. Each residential battery delivers 

approximately 2 kilowatts (kW) over a 4-hour period (8 kWh) every weekday. Batteries are coordinated 

to charge at controlled rates during times of high solar generation and discharge at a consistent rate across 

times of peak grid load. As shown in Figure 1 and Figure 1 shows how residential battery systems charge 

and discharge when not actively managed. Each black line represents a single battery, and the blue line 

represents the average state of charge across all batteries. When operating without coordination, the 

portfolio fails to maximize load modification benefits, as evidenced by:  

1. Batteries dispatch for TOU, and generally are set to discharge over 1-2 hours, which does not align 

with entirety of grid stress event  

2. Batteries are in back-up only mode and do not dispatch in the evenings  

3. Batteries are configured to maximize self-consumption and may not dispatch during evening hours 

  

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



Figure 2 in Appendix A, which depict data collected from the Resilient Home program, actively managing 

the batteries is crucial to optimizing their load modification capabilities. Unmanaged batteries operating 

“in the wild” may not be effectively reducing customer load during peak periods.12 

Critical Municipal Facilities 
The Critical Municipal Facilities program will bring reliable power to 30 critical facilities via the installation 

of solar and storage. These facilities provide fire, safety, and emergency operations to communities. Ava 

worked with a consultant engineering firm and its member agencies to assemble a list of hundreds of 

critical facilities across its service territory, ranging from fire stations and emergency operation centers to 

libraries and community centers. Sites were screened based on natural hazard exposure, service to the 

community, and solar and battery potential. Initial engineering was done for each site, identifying an initial 

potential of 10 megawatts (MW) of solar and 25 megawatt-hours (MWh) of storage in a subset of member 

agency jurisdictions. A portfolio of 61 facilities in Emeryville, Pleasanton, Oakland, Livermore, San 

Leandro, Berkeley, Hayward, and Fremont are currently being bid for development, with total solar and 

storage sizing to be refined during the offer process. Similar to Resilient Home, Ava plans on offering 

customers the option to optimize battery dispatch for peak consumption reduction. 

Ava received commitments from the city councils of Albany and Piedmont to participate in the next round 

of the program and discussed it with Stockton, a future member agency. 

5.1.2 DERMs and Residential Managed EV Charging 
Ava is currently evaluating proposals for Distributed Energy Resource Management services provider to 

manage a suite of existing and future distributed energy resources. Through the same solicitation, Ava is 

seeking a scalable approach for a managed residential EV charging program. Ava envisions integrating a 

broad spectrum of devices under the umbrella of a single DERMS provider to streamline load management 

capabilities. Additionally, by centralizing control, Ava aims to optimize the coordination of these DERS in 

a way that reduces carbon emissions, maximizes energy savings for customers, and provides Ava with load 

management. Ultimately, Ava’s goal for the management of DERs is to develop Virtual Power Plant(s) 

(VPPs) that will participate as “load modifying resources or demand modifiers” presented to the California 

Energy Commission (CEC), and/or in wholesale CAISO markets, or other applicable approaches that 

support the goal to provide carbon-free energy at competitive rates to Ava customers. 

5.1.3 Capacity Based Battery Incentive Program  
Ava is developing an additional paired solar and storage incentive program using savings from the 

transition from NEM 2.0 to the Net Billing Tariff. Through this program, Ava would provide upfront 

incentives for solar customers to adopt storage, and ongoing incentives for batteries that are dispatched 

for load management through the aforementioned DERMS platform. Higher incentives would be provided 

for CARE customers and resilience hubs. The program would be available to both residential and non-

residential customers at inception, with additional study on approaches to commercial customers 

forthcoming.  

Evaluation of New Programs 
Ava is developing a robust portfolio of programs with a focus on load flexibility that strikes the right 

balance between customer needs and grid benefits. As summarized above, this portfolio is exploring 

12 2020 SGIP Energy Storage Impact Evaluation, Verdant Associates, Page 58. (cpuc.ca.gov) 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



various dispatch signals, including automated response. These signals are based on several factors, 

including day-ahead marginal prices. The program development process will include collaborating with 

external vendors to build a technology platform that can optimize and automate dispatch of DERs. 

The next section of the Plan evaluates the cost-effectiveness, equity, technological feasibility, and benefits 

to the grid and to customers of implementing programs that enable automated response to dispatch 

signals, including MIDAS signals, year-round, that are available to every customer class by July 1, 2027. 

Without program results at this time, Ava cannot quantify the magnitude of peak load reduction and/or 

other benefits can be provided through programs that enable automated dispatch based on MIDAS 

signals. 

5.1.4 Cost Effectiveness 
The first evaluation factor is cost-effectiveness. Ava will assess cost-effectiveness of new programs by 

comparing the estimated costs and incremental benefits associated with designing and implementing 

new load flexibility programs that allow for response to dynamic price signals, including MIDAS signals, 

year-round. For a program to be cost-effective, the expected benefits must exceed the costs of design 

and implementation. 

5.1.4.1 Estimated Costs 

The costs associated with implementing a new load flexibility program include program development, 
implementation, and administration costs. Ava anticipates these cost categories would apply, regardless 
of customer class.  

• Program development costs include the costs associated with program design and setup, 
including integrating new programs with the CEC’s MIDAS database and any applicable technology 
platform to the extent feasible.  

• Program administration costs include ongoing costs to administer the program such as marketing, 
customer recruitment, customer education, development, and maintenance of customer tools, 
and any upfront or ongoing incentive payments that are part of the design.  

• Technology and implementation costs include any external software systems that must be 
procured to communicate with and dispatch devices, as well as internal systems which must be 
developed and configured to integrate the external software. New load flexibility programs may 
require significant investments in new technology platforms.  

5.1.4.2 Potential Benefits to Ava 

The following section describes the potential benefits associated with implementing programs that allow 

for automated response to dynamic price signals, including MIDAS signals, and the estimated realization 

of such benefits based on the additional load shift capacity available to be captured. 

5.1.4.2.1 Potential Benefits 

The potential benefits associated with implementing programs that achieve incremental load shift include 

avoided capacity and energy costs, improved reliability during peak periods, avoided GHG compliance 

costs, and avoided air quality, public health, and environmental costs associated with a reduction in fossil-

fuel generation, consistent with the benefits discussed in Section 4.3.1.2.1. These potential benefits are 

not unique to programs implemented for any one customer class. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



5.1.4.2.2 Realization of Benefits  

There are several uncertainties and barriers associated with realizing the above-identified incremental 

load shift potential and its associated benefits. Ava expects these barriers and uncertainties to apply 

across residential, C&I, and agricultural customer classes. These uncertainties and barriers are 

summarized as follows: 

• While there has been a rapid increase in the number of devices on the market that are able to 

automate load reductions, most devices are not capable of effectively responding to real-time 

signals without significantly compromising customers’ daily activities. HPWHs, EVs and even 

thermostats all require advance notice to meet customer needs. 

• Enabling daily automation may bring additional load flexibility to utilities and CCAs, but frequent 

device dispatch without first understanding the impacts on customer experience runs the risk of 

eroding participation and satisfaction in the program. 

• Ava anticipates that directly exposing participants to market prices could result in deeper load 

reductions, to the extent that increasing prices drive customers to shift more load away from the 

peak. However, the magnitude of additional load reduction as a function of price is not yet known. 

In addition, higher customer risk with dynamic prices is likely to reduce participation and benefits. 

5.1.4.2.3 Expected Incremental Benefits 

Based on the above factors, Ava expects the following incremental benefits associated with programs that 

allow for automated response to dynamic price signals: 

• A key value stream for Ava’s load flexibility programs is avoided RA procurement. To the extent a 
given program can reduce peak demand and thus RA procurement, these avoided costs can be 
credited against the costs associated with implementing the program. While programs that 
expose customers to dynamic price signals may drive incremental load reductions when prices 
are highest, it is unknown how much and how reliable that incremental reduction would be, and 
how it would be credited under the current RA framework. Moreover, the magnitude of the load 
shift depends on significant adoption and acceptance of enabling technology.  

• To the extent that new program structures and technology allow for faster load shift in response 
to short price spikes or drive greater load shift away from peak periods, Ava could see reductions 
in energy purchase costs, but this is currently not yet known. Future program design will seek to 
maximize the energy savings associated with customer load flexibility, balanced against 
technological capability, customer acceptance, and impact on the overall energy system.  

• Given uncertainties around customer response to dynamic price signals and current penetration 
of enabling technology, Ava is unable to determine whether there would be secondary benefits 
(reliability benefits, avoided transmission and distribution costs, avoided GHG compliance costs, 
avoided public health, air quality, and environmental costs) associated with further reducing 
demand during peak periods from programs with automated response to hourly price signals 
versus existing programs.  

5.1.4.3 Discussion 

Based on the foregoing evaluation, Ava cannot conclude that the development of new programs that 

allow for automated responses to dynamic price signals would be cost-effective at this time. Ava will incur 

new programs’ costs associated with design, implementation, and new technology investments. While 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



these costs could potentially be offset with capacity and/or energy cost savings, the magnitude of those 

benefits are uncertain. 

In addition, Ava anticipates that any incremental benefits will be limited in the near-term, while new 

technology is continuing to grow. Ava will continue to assess the expected incremental costs and benefits 

associated with incorporating more dynamic price signals and/or allowing resources to be dispatched by 

MIDAS signals, as Ava develops and potentially implements new programs. 

5.1.5 Equity 
The second criterion for evaluating new programs is equity. Ava qualitatively evaluates whether programs 

that enable automated response to dynamic prices, including MIDAS signals, are likely to lead to equitable 

outcomes. 

5.1.5.1 Equitable Access to Direct Benefits 
When designing any program, Ava ensures that all aspects of program design take equity into account. 

Ava seeks to develop customer energy programs that respond to community needs, with a focus on 

underserved communities and equity. 

Ava is committed to include equity as a core principle when designing programs that allow for response 

to dynamic signals, given the current access barriers and risk of price exposure that may 

disproportionately be experienced by lower income customers and customers from communities of 

concern. 

5.1.5.2 Equitable Access to Indirect Benefits 

Program design also plays a major role in determining whether a program delivers incremental load shift 

benefits and results in cost savings and improved air quality, public health, and environmental outcomes 

that accrue to all customers. The realization of any indirect benefits is uncertain because Ava cannot 

quantify load shift benefits that dynamic price signals would result. 

5.1.5.3 Discussion 

Ava is unable to conclude that implementing new programs that allow for automated response to dynamic 

price signals, including MIDAS signals, would materially address equity. Programs can be designed to 

ensure equitable access to participation and benefits regardless of if the programs incorporate sending 

dynamic signals directly to customers. Furthermore, the risk of price exposure from dynamic rates could 

potentially exacerbate inequities in outcomes. 

5.1.6 Technological Feasibility 
The third evaluation factor for programs is technological feasibility. Ava’s evaluation assesses the 

technological feasibility of implementing programs that allow for automated response to dynamic price 

signals on the schedule specified in the LMS requirements. Ava’s evaluation considers the feasibility of 

both the systems needed to dispatch dynamic price signals, including MIDAS signals, and to the external 

customer technology that is needed to enable response to hourly or sub-hourly signals.  

Ava’s Technology Systems 
As described previously, Ava is currently proposals for Distributed Energy Resource Management services 

provider to manage a suite of existing and future distributed energy resources. Ava hopes that dispatch 

of resources within demand flexibility programs will be centralized within the DERMS platform. It is not 

yet clear whether the DERMs platform will have functionality to utilize hourly or sub-hourly signals. Ava 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



will continue to coordinate and collaborate with external vendors to assess the technological feasibility of 

enabling response to dynamic price signals in both the DERMs platform and external customer 

technology. 

5.1.6.1 Enabling Customer Technology 
The incremental benefits derived from implementing new programs that allow for response to dynamic 
price signals depend on customer participation and the widespread availability and acceptance of devices 
that can respond to sub-hourly price signals without compromising customer experience. Refer to Section 
4.3.3.2 for a detailed description of common load flexibility technologies that are deployed across the 
state, and their capabilities and challenges.  
 
Ava is uncertain whether the technology and platforms needed to enable programs that allow for 

response to dynamic price signals exist or could be updated on the LMS requirements’ timeframe, given 

close coordination and collaboration with external vendors and PG&E will be required. However, Ava has 

started discussions with those parties on technological feasibility in anticipation of developing and 

offering programs with enabling device automation technology.  

5.1.7 Benefits to the Grid and Customers 
The final two criteria for evaluating dynamic rates are benefits to the grid and to customers. Ava is 

evaluating these factors separately, in contrast to the previous dynamic rates evaluation. 

5.1.7.1  Benefits to the Grid 

To the extent that new programs enabling responses to dynamic price signals result in consistent, material 

incremental load reduction, the following are potential grid benefits: 

• Deferred or reduced need for new generation capacity or RA procurement. 

• Deferred or reduced need for wholesale energy purchases to meet peak demand. 

• Deferred or reduced need to upgrade transmission and/or distribution capacity to deliver energy 

to meet peak demand. 

• Increased reliability is associated with reducing grid strain during periods of peak demand. 

These benefits all depend, in significant part, on the magnitude of load shift resulting from new programs. 

Mutual benefit is necessary for effective, consistent load shift. With limited available information, Ava is 

unable to quantify load shift benefits of new MIDAS-integrated programs. 

5.1.7.2 Benefits to Customers 

The following is a summary of potential customers benefits associated with implementing new programs 

that allow for automated response to dynamic price signals: 

• Pass-through cost savings associated with the realization of a reduced need for generation 

capacity, transmission and/or distribution upgrades, and higher-price wholesale energy 

purchases to meet peak load. 

• Pass-through cost savings associated with avoided GHG compliance costs, to the extent that the 

incremental load shift reduces the need to rely on fossil-fuel resources to meet peak demand. Ava 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



anticipates these savings will become less significant as Ava’s energy supply transitions towards 

100 percent renewable. 

• Pass-through increased reliability, to the extent this grid benefit is realized. 

• Improved public health, air quality, and environmental outcomes, to the extent that the 

incremental load shift reduces the need to rely on fossil-fuel resources to meet peak demand. 

• Cost savings associated with participation, to the extent that devices automatically shift load away 

from higher price periods. 

Based on the uncertainty of the magnitude of load reduction benefits that the new programs can achieve, 

Ava is unable to conclude that there would be any incremental pass-through cost savings or reliability 

benefits to customers. Similarly, Ava anticipates that any incremental air quality, public health, and 

environmental benefits would also be uncertain. 

5.1.8 Compliance Approach 
The following section of the Plan describes how Ava plans to address the requirements to identify cost-

effective programs that allow for automated response to dynamic price signals and offer customers 

voluntary participation in these programs, based on the evaluation of such programs. 

5.1.8.1 Identification of Cost-Effective Load Flexibility Programs 

Consistent with the LMS requirements, Ava will submit to the CEC, no later than October 1, 2024, a list of 

cost-effective load flexibility programs that enable automated response to MIDAS signals for each 

customer class, if any, where such a program is determined by Ava’s Board to materially increase peak 

load reduction. Based on available information, Ava is unable to determine whether adding new programs 

that allow response to MIDAS signals would materially reduce peak load for any customer class or exceed 

the costs of implementation. Ava will continue to evaluate the cost-effectiveness and incremental peak 

load reduction potential associated with incorporating automated response to MIDAS signals. 

5.1.8.2 Voluntary Participation in Cost-Effective Load Flexibility Programs 

Ava is currently developing load flexibility programs that may offer customers voluntary participation. 

However, Ava is unable to demonstrate that offering such programs beginning on July 1, 2027 would be 

cost effective. Ava will continue to assess the cost-effectiveness and peak load reduction potential of 

programs that enable automated response to MIDAS signals as more information becomes available. 

Based on the foregoing, Ava will continue to offer its customers voluntary participation in load flexibility 

programs and does not at this time anticipate offering programs that enable automated response to 

MIDAS signals. Ava plans to defer offering voluntary participation in load flexibility programs that enable 

automated response to MIDAS signals because Ava is currently unable to demonstrate that offering such 

programs beginning July 1, 2027, would be cost effective or result in material peak load reduction relative 

to Ava’s existing and planned load flexibility programs. However, as noted above, Ava will continue to 

assess the cost-effectiveness and peak load reduction potential of programs that enable automated 

response to MIDAS signals as it develops and refines load flexibility programs, particularly based upon the 

pilots that will inform Ava’s load flexibility approach.  

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



Public Information Program 
Adopted LMS amendments section 1623.1(a)(5) requires each large CCA to conduct a public information 

program to inform and educate impacted customers about dynamic rates and/or load flexibility programs. 

Specifically, the information program must explain why dynamic rates or load flexibility programs, and 

their automation, are needed, how they will be used, and how they lower energy costs. This section of 

the Plan addresses how Ava will comply with the public information program requirements. 

5.2 Ava’s Communication Approach 
As a community-driven local electricity provider, Ava is committed to broad customer outreach, 

education, communication, and customer service. Ava provides its customers with the information to best 

manage their energy usage according to their needs. As a local community agency, Ava prides itself on its 

ability to meet customers where they are: in their language, at their events, in their neighborhood. 

Ava communicates through a wide variety of channels to build brand awareness and ensure customers 

are familiar with its time of use rates, demand flexibility programs, and their benefits. These channels 

include Ava’s website; an active presence on social media; sponsorship and tabling at in-person events; 

letters and post cards sent via direct mail; sending millions of emails to customers annually; geo-targeted 

and demographically segmented digital advertising; billboards; and advertisements in Bay Area Rapid 

Transit (BART) stations.  

Ava recognizes the importance of public outreach to the energy transition. Ava has engaged in a variety 

of public relations, marketing, community outreach, and local government affairs activities to drive energy 

awareness and education, spark community engagement, and maintain high customer enrollment. As part 

of the commitment to customer communication and education, Ava’s language program ensures that 

Chinese, Spanish, and other non-English speaking customers can access information and materials in their 

preferred language. Ava maintains regular communication with regional media, providing factual and 

timely information to the broader public. Ava developed a tool13 to help customers find clean energy 

incentive programs they qualify for. Finally, Ava’s customer service agents regularly interact with 

customers over the phone and email to address questions and resolve issues. 

Ava’s Technology & Analytics team assembled a database that contains a variety of customer 

demographic information. This database facilitates the segmentation of Ava’s audience and targeted 

messaging. This approach would be essential for encouraging the adoption of dynamic rates. 

To achieve decarbonization goals, Ava will continue to educate customers on the benefits of peak load 

reduction through time-dependent rates and load flexibility programs. Ava will continue to develop new 

strategies to improve community outreach, expand marketing and brand awareness efforts, and to drive 

customers towards making educated energy decisions. 

5.3 Compliance Approach 
Ava will continue with communication best practices to maintain its outreach, education, and marketing 

of rates, programs, and pilots that support load flexibility and recognize the benefits of reducing peak 

13 https://incentives.avaenergy.org/ 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



load. In parallel, Ava will also update education and marketing materials to incorporate discussion of new 

rates, programs, and pilots, along with the role of automation.  

 

 

 

 

  

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



6 Delay and Modification of Compliance Requirements 
Adopted LMS amendments section 1623.1(a)(2) of the LMS regulation specifies that a Large CCA may 

approve a compliance plan, or material revisions to an approved plan, that delays or modifies compliance 

with certain LMS requirements. To do so, the compliance plan must demonstrate one of the following 

factors: 

• That despite good faith efforts to comply, requiring timely compliance would result in extreme 
hardship.  

• Requiring timely compliance would result in reduced system reliability, equity, safety, or 
efficiency.  

• Requiring timely compliance would not be technologically feasible or cost-effective to implement.  

• Or despite good faith efforts to implement a compliance plan, it must be modified to provide a 
more technologically feasible, equitable, safe, or cost-effective way to achieve the LMS 
requirements or the plan’s goals.  

 
This section of the Plan addresses how Ava’s Plan delays or modifies compliance with certain elements of 

the LMS requirements.  

6.1 Providing RINs to Customers 
Adopted LMS amendments section 1623(c)(4) requires each Large CCA to provide customers access to 
their RIN(s) on billing statements and in online accounts by April 1, 2024, using both text and QR code. As 
detailed in section 3.2 of this Plan, Ava plans to make the RINs available to customers in the required 
formats within the designated time and has already begun engaging with appropriate parties, including 
PG&E, on the necessary changes.  
 
PG&E has ultimate control of both paper and electronic billing statement designs. While PG&E does not 

anticipate needing to modify the RIN access requirement at this time, based on the scope of work and 

estimated completion timelines, compliance could be delayed if, for example, PG&E’s current bill design 

constrains the inclusion of the RIN in text and/or QR code, and the redesign cannot be timely completed, 

tested, and implemented by the same deadline. In such circumstances, Ava would need to modify the 

deadline for providing RINs to customers in both text and QR code because implementing this 

requirement by April 1, 2024, would not be technologically feasible. 

6.2 Statewide RIN Access Tool 

6.2.1 Development of Statewide Tool 
Adopted LMS amendments section 1623(c) requires the utilities and Large CCAs to develop a single 
statewide standard tool for authorized rate data access by third parties, along with a single set of terms 
and conditions for third parties using the tool, for submission to the CEC by October 1, 2024, for approval.  
 
As discussed in section 3.3, Ava plans to collaborate with the parties and has committed staff to participate 

in the working group. While Ava anticipates that developing a single statewide tool that can perform the 

specified requirements and integrate with each LSE’s system will be a challenging and complex task, at 

this time Ava intends to comply with the requirement. Because the tool development requirement is 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



jointly held by the utilities and Large CCAs, Ava is optimistic that significant progress will be made and 

does not seek to delay or modify this requirement within this Plan. Should the need for an extension arise, 

Ava anticipates that the parties would approach the CEC Executive Director collectively in accordance with 

section 1623(c)(2)(B) of the LMS, which allows the CEC Executive Director to extend the submission 

deadline upon a showing of good cause. 

6.2.2 Implementation of Statewide Tool 
Adopted LMS amendments section 1623(c)(3) also requires the utilities and Large CCAs to implement and 

maintain the tool, upon its approval by the CEC. Ava does not anticipate needing to modify compliance 

with this requirement currently. However, Ava notes that integration of the approved tool with internal 

systems could be delayed if the development and/or CEC approval of the tool are delayed, because 

integrating the tool before it is finalized and approved would not be technologically feasible, or if the cost 

of integrating the tool would cause extreme hardship for Ava or Ava’s customers. 

6.3 Dynamic Rates 
Adopted LMS amendments section 1623.1(b)(2) directs each Large CCA to apply for approval of at least 

one dynamic rate for the customer class(es) from its Board by July 1, 2025, for which the Board determines 

such rate will materially reduce peak load. Section 1623.1(b)(4) requires CCAs to offer customers 

voluntary participation in such a rate or a specified load flexibility program by July 1, 2027. 

As discussed in Section 4.3, based on its evaluation of dynamic rates, Ava cannot currently conclude that 

developing and implementing such rates on the LMS timeframe for any customer class would result in 

material reductions in peak load or be cost effective.  

While dynamic rates have the potential to provide incremental load shift and related benefits, there are 
significant uncertainties in the direction and magnitude of dynamic rate impacts, and the costs associated 
with their implementation. Without data from pilots, it is not possible to quantify incremental load shift 
benefits and cost-effectiveness of dynamic rate implementation. In addition, implementation of 
unfamiliar and complex rate structures without sufficient testing and refinement of new rate designs, as 
well as thorough education, is likely to cause customer confusion, risking low adoption and limiting any 
incremental load shift benefits. The realization of incremental load shift benefits is made more uncertain 
by additional risks customers may bear with dynamic rates, especially if new enabling technology is not 
widely adopted.  
 
Ava has determined that, for the reasons set forth in this Plan, the LMS requirements must be modified 
to provide a more cost-effective and technologically feasible way for Ava to, in good faith, meet the LMS 
requirements and achieve the LMS goals. Thus, Ava proposes to modify the dynamic rate requirements 
of the LMS to defer the development or proposal of new hourly or sub-hourly rate options, and offering 
new rates to Ava’s customers would be likewise deferred. Ava believes proposing dynamic rates to its 
Board by July 1, 2025, to implement them by July 1, 2027, is premature. Ava will continue offering its suite 
of time-dependent rates while gathering information for a more comprehensive evaluation once data is 
available from dynamic rate pilots in PG&E’s service territory. The results of the pilots will help Ava better 
understand the effectiveness of the dynamic rates, how customers with different technologies respond 
to different dispatch signals, and to what extent incremental load shift opportunities exist beyond existing 
time-dependent rates and programs. As Ava receives and analyzes results from those pilots, Ava will be 
better positioned to evaluate the cost-effectiveness and flexibility of dynamic rates. As such, Ava will 
review dynamic rates in the next Plan update. 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



6.4 Dynamic Response Load Flexibility Programs 

6.4.1 Identification of Cost-Effective Load Flexibility Programs 
Adopted LMS amendments section 1623.1(b)(3) requires each Large CCA to submit a list of cost-effective 
MIDAS-integrated load flexibility programs to the CEC Executive Director by October 1, 2024. The portfolio 
of load flexibility programs must provide at least one option to automate response to MIDAS signals (that 
indicate, for example, hourly marginal cost-based rates, marginal prices, or hourly or sub-hourly GHG 
emissions) for every customer class where such a program would materially reduce peak load.  
 
As discussed in Section 5.2, adding or modifying programs to allow response to MIDAS signals has not yet 

been determined to result in material incremental reductions in peak load for any customer class or to be 

cost effective. This is in part due to the uncertainties in customer acceptance and response to hourly or 

sub-hourly price signals, exposure to market price spikes and volatility, and as a result, peak load reduction 

potential.  

Ava is required to identify MIDAS-integrated dynamic load flexibility programs for customer classes where 

such programs are determined to be cost-effective and materially reduce peak load. Ava anticipates 

submitting a list that includes planned load flexibility programs and pilots that achieve LMS goals without 

automated response to MIDAS signals, by October 1, 2024, because Ava’s evaluation has not concluded 

that developing and implementing programs or pilots with automated response to MIDAS would be cost-

effective or materially reduce peak load. Additionally, it is too late to incorporate MIDAS price signals into 

existing and currently planned load flexibility programs. Ava has determined that modifying this 

requirement is necessary to provide a more cost-effective and feasible way to meet the LMS requirements 

and achieve the LMS goals. Ava will re-evaluate the cost-effectiveness and incremental peak load 

reduction potential associated with incorporating dynamic signals into demand flexibility programs as 

information from the pilots becomes available and may include MIDAS-integrated programs on a future 

list.  

6.4.2 Voluntary Participation in Cost-Effective Load Flexibility Programs 
Adopted LMS amendments section 1623.1(b)(4) requires each Large CCA to offer customers voluntary 
participation in either a dynamic rate, if approved by the Board, or cost-effective MIDAS-integrated load 
flexibility program by July 1, 2027.  
 
Ava is required to offer voluntary participation in cost-effective load flexibility programs that materially 
reduce peak load. As discussed in Sections 5 and 7.4.1 above, Ava’s evaluation has been unable to 
conclude that developing and implementing new load flexibility programs or pilots with  
automated response to MIDAS signals would be cost effective or materially reduce peak load. Ava has 

determined that, for the reasons set forth in this Plan, the LMS program participation requirements must 

be modified to provide a more cost-effective and technologically feasible way for Ava to, in good faith, 

meet the LMS requirements and achieve the LMS goals. Thus, Ava modifies this requirement to include 

voluntary participation in any load flexibility program or pilot, not just programs that allow for automated 

response to MIDAS signals. Ava will assess the cost-effectiveness and peak load potential of planned and 

new programs that enable automated response to MIDAS signals as Ava develops and refines load 

flexibility programs. 

  

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



7 Appendices 

7.1 Appendix A 
 

Figure 1 Non-Managed Residential Battery Performance 

 

Figure 1 shows how residential battery systems charge and discharge when not actively managed. Each 

black line represents a single battery, and the blue line represents the average state of charge across all 

batteries. When operating without coordination, the portfolio fails to maximize load modification 

benefits, as evidenced by:  

4. Batteries dispatch for TOU, and generally are set to discharge over 1-2 hours, which does not align 

with entirety of grid stress event  

5. Batteries are in back-up only mode and do not dispatch in the evenings  

6. Batteries are configured to maximize self-consumption and may not dispatch during evening hours 

  

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



Figure 2 Managed Battery Performance 

 

Figure 1 shows how customer battery systems charge and discharge when actively managed. Each black 

line represents a single battery, and the blue line represents the average state of charge across all 

batteries. When operating with coordination, the portfolio maximizes load modification, as evidenced 

by: 

1. Batteries charge at controlled rates during times of high solar generation  

2. Batteries discharge at an optimized rate to ensure constant output throughout the contracted 

four-hour window 

Attachment Staff Report Item 21A



Consent Item 17 

Consent Item 17 

TO: Ava Community Energy Authority Board of Directors 

FROM: Alex DiGiorgio, Sr. Manager, Public Engagement  

SUBJECT: Proposed Amendments to Policy on Member Requests to 
Change the Default Rate Product for Certain Customers 

DATE:  March 20, 2024 
__________________________________________________________________ 

Recommendation 

Approve Resolution adopting an amended Default Rate Product Change Policy 
regarding Ava member agency (“JPA member”) requests to change the default rate 
product for certain customers within their jurisdiction.  

The proposed amendments include 1) adjusting the timeline for Board approval and 
staff implementation of JPA member requests within this Policy; and 2) administrative 
updates reflecting the Ava brand/agency name change.   

Background and Discussion 

On March 17, 2021, Ava’s Board of Directors approved the Agency’s Policy on Member 
Requests to Change the Default Rate Product for Certain Customers (“Policy” 
attached). This action came in response to the City of Dublin’s request (expressed via 
City Council Resolution) to have Ava’s Renewable 100 become the new default electric 
service for all residential accounts within the City’s jurisdiction (aside from those on 
discount programs, such as CARE/FERA and/or Medical Baseline). Previously, Ava’s 
Bright Choice option had been Dublin’s default electric service for all customer accounts 
since the City’s initial enrollment—as was the case for the vast majority of Ava’s JPA 
member-jurisdictions.  

CAC Item C9



   
 

Consent Item 17 

Since the Policy’s passage, seven (7) of Ava’s JPA member-jurisdictions have 
implemented Renewable 100 as their default service option for both residential and 
commercial customers.1 These jurisdictions include the cities of Albany, Berkeley, 
Dublin2, Emeryville, Hayward, Pleasanton, and San Leandro.  
 
Additional jurisdictions are currently exploring if/when to implement the policy (to make 
Renewable 100 the default service for some or all customer account types).  
The table below summarizes the default service option by customer account type (i.e., 
Residential, Commercial/Industrial, and Municipal accounts) for JPA member-
jurisdictions currently served by Ava.3 The highlighted rows indicate jurisdictions that 
have implemented the Policy.  

 
Table 1: Default Ava Service Option by JPA Member & Customer Type  

Jurisdiction Residential Commercial Municipal  CARE/FERA 
& 

Med Baseline 

Albany  R100 R100 R100 Bright Choice  

Berkeley R100 R100 R100 Bright Choice 

Dublin R100 R100 R100 Bright Choice  

Emeryville R100 R100 R100 Bright Choice  

Fremont Bright Choice Bright Choice R100 Bright Choice 

 
1 The City of Piedmont chose to have Renewable 100 become the default service option for Residential 
accounts (excluding those on CARE/FERA and Medical Baseline) during its initial enrollment in 2018 and 
before the current policy had been established. Similarly, the cities of Albany, Hayward, and Pleasanton 
all chose to have Ava’s Brilliant 100 service (which was closed and no longer available to customers) as 
the default service during their initial enrollments.  
2 The City of Dublin implemented the policy on two separate occasions: first to make Renewable 100 the 
default service for all Residential accounts (apart from CARE/FERA and Medical Baseline), and then to 
make it the default service for all Non-Residential accounts (i.e., Commercial, Industrial and Municipal 
accounts).  
3 The cities of Stockton and Lathrop are scheduled to begin Ava service in January of 2025. Staff 
currently anticipates Bright Choice to be the initial default service option for all customer types within both 
cities.  



   
 

Consent Item 17 

Hayward R100 R100 R100 Bright Choice 

Livermore Bright Choice Bright Choice R100 Bright Choice 

Newark Bright Choice Bright Choice Bright Choice Bright Choice  

Oakland Bright Choice Bright Choice Bright Choice Bright Choice  

Piedmont R100 Bright Choice R100 Bright Choice  

Pleasanton  R100 R100 R100 Bright Choice  

San Leandro R100 R100 R100 Bright Choice 

Tracy  Bright Choice Bright Choice Bright Choice Bright Choice  

Union City Bright Choice Bright Choice Bright Choice Bright Choice  

  
Policy Implementation 
To implement the Policy, a city or county’s elected leadership (i.e., the City Council or 
County Board of Supervisors) must communicate its desire to do so by official action, 
typically by passing a Resolution to this effect. Thereafter, Ava’s Board of Directors 
must approve the jurisdiction’s request before staff may implement it.  
 
To help ensure 1) a smooth transition for customers and 2) adequate time for Ava to 
procure sufficient volumes of wholesale power resources, the Policy provides a six-
month implementation “runway” from the time of Board approval to the subsequent 
enrollment/transition of customer accounts. As originally drafted, the Policy provided two 
timelines by which member-jurisdictions could seek Ava Board approval and 
implementation for default service transitions. These are summarized in the Policy via 
the table below:  
 
Table 2: Current Ava Policy for Citywide Service Plan Transitions 



   
 

Consent Item 17 

Ava Board Approval By Implementation By 

April 30 of Year A October 31 of Year A 

September 30 of Year A March 31 of Year A+1 

 
To help further streamline the implementation process—and facilitate strategic, cost-
effective, long and short-term power procurement, as well as efficient and effective 
community outreach—staff is proposing to amend the Policy to have one timeline by 
which member-jurisdictions may change their default service option(s). This proposed, 
single timeline would require Ava Board approval by May 31 of a given year, with 
implementation to occur during the month of March of the following year (i.e., on 
the March billing cycle of individual customer accounts). As such, the Policy’s table 
above would be adjusted as follows:  
 
Table 3: Proposed Ava Policy for Citywide Service Plan Transitions 

Ava Board Approval By Implementation By 

April 30 May 31 of Year A October 31  March  of Year A 
+ 1 

September 30 of Year A March 31 of Year A+1 

 
Proposed amendments to Policy’s implementation timeline: 1) Ava Board 
approval by May 31st of a given year; and 2) staff implementation of new default 
enrollments/service transitions in March of the following year.  
 
At its meeting on March 6, 2024, Ava’s Executive Committee discussed staff’s proposed 
amendments to the Policy’s timeline, including a single, annual deadline for Ava Board 
approval of JPA member requests within the Policy; and the timing of staff 
implementation of Board-approved requests.   
 
Regarding the former, the Committee expressed support for staff’s recommendation. By 
limiting the Policy to a single, annual Board approval deadline of May 31, Ava’s staff will 
continue to have adequate “runway” to plan and procure for approved JPA member 
requests to transition to new citywide/countywide default service options. Regarding the 
latter, the Committee considered and compared two potential months (i.e., January vs. 
March) for staff implementation of Board-approved citywide/countywide default service 
plan transitions. The table below summarizes considerations associated with enrolling 
customers in January vs. March of the following year. Ultimately, the Committee 
recommended March as the month in which staff should implement approved default 
service plan transitions. 



   
 

Consent Item 17 

 
Table 4: Considerations of a January vs. March Default Service Plan Transition 
Consideration  January  March 
Ease of 
outreach/communication  

Customer notifications 
sent during Q4/holiday 
season 

Customer notifications sent 
during Q1 

Customer bill impacts  Winter bills tend to be 
high, may also be aligned 
with a PG&E rate change 

Seasonal rates are lower, as 
is typical customer usage. 
However, summer bills are 
higher in inland 
communities.  

Accounting/Power 
Procurement 

Straightforward 12 
months for Renewable 
Energy Credits (RECs) 
and Carbon Free (CF) 
portfolio 
planning/purchasing 
 
Temperature/climate 
tends to be universally 
lower/less variable during 
January. This typically 
makes 24-hour energy 
scheduling easier to plan 

Cost risks may increase with 
shorter timeframe for REC 
and CF procurement 
 
Jurisdictions w/higher 
temperatures/less moderate 
weather (e.g. San Joaquin 
County jurisdictions) may 
have greater impact on 
Ava’s overall energy profile. 
Thus, 24-hour energy 
scheduling implications may 
be harder to anticipate if 
they begin later in the year. 
 
 

City/County Climate Action 
Plan Commitments 

Annual accounting may 
be simplified 

Climate action planning may 
be somewhat more 
difficult/less straightforward 

 
 
Fiscal Impact  
There is no cost to amending the Policy on Member Requests to Change the Default 
Rate Product for Certain Customers.  
 
Limiting the Policy to a single/annual implementation timeline may help streamline 
internal processes that result in operational efficiencies.    
 
Committee Recommendation 
At its meeting on March 6, 2024, Ava’s Executive Committee recommended adopting 
the proposed amendments to the Policy on Member Requests to Change the Default 
Rate Product for Certain Customers. These amendments are reflected in Attachment B. 
They specifically include: 1) requiring Ava Board approval by May 31 of a given year; 
and 2) staff implementation in March of the following year.  
 



   
 

Consent Item 17 

Attachments 
A. Resolution for Default Rate Product Change Policy 
B. Current Policy on Member Requests to Change the Default Rate Product for 

Certain Customers 
C. Redlined version of Policy on Member Requests to Change the Default Rate 

Product for Certain Customers (reflecting proposed amendments) 
D. Presentation - Proposed Amendments: Default Rate Product Change Policy 

 



Attachment Consent Item 17A 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2024-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

OF THE AVA COMMUNITY ENERGY AUTHORITY TO APPROVE AMENDMENTS 
TO THE DEFAULT RATE PRODUCT CHANGE POLICY 

 

 WHEREAS The Ava Community Energy Authority (“Ava”) was formed as a 
community choice aggregation agency (“CCA”) on December 1, 2016, Under the Joint 
Exercise of Power Act, California Government Code sections 6500 et seq., among the 
County of Alameda, and the Cities of Albany, Berkeley, Dublin, Emeryville, Fremont, 
Hayward, Livermore, Piedmont, Oakland, San Leandro, and Union City to study, 
promote, develop, conduct, operate, and manage energy-related climate change 
programs in all of the member jurisdictions. The cities of Newark and Pleasanton, 
located in Alameda County, along with the City of Tracy, located in San Joaquin County, 
were added as members of Ava and parties to the Joint Powers Authority (“JPA”) in 
March of 2020. The city of Stockton, located in San Joaquin County was added as a 
member of Ava and party to the JPA in September of 2022. The city of Lathrop, 
located in San Joaquin County, was added as a member to Ava and party to the JPA in 
October of 2023. On October 24, 2023, the Authority legally adopted the name Ava 
Community Energy Authority, where it had previously used the name East Bay 
Community Energy Authority since its inception. 

WHEREAS, since 2018 Ava Community Energy Authority has provided its 
member agencies with a choice of which default service product to provide to its 
customers, and several member agencies have upgraded their default product 
offerings. 

WHEREAS on March 17, 2021, the Board of Directors approved the Default Rate 
Product Change Policy (“Policy”). 

WHEREAS on March 17, 2021, the Policy was implemented by the Board of 
Directors via Resolution 2021-9 to approve the City of Dublin’s request to make 
Renewable 100 the default product for Dublin’s residential customers, except for those 
on discount programs such as CARE/FERA and Medical Baseline. 

WHEREAS on July 21, 2021, the Policy was implemented by the Board of 
Directors via Resolution 2021-32 to approve the requests from the city councils of the 
cities of Albany, Berkeley, Hayward, and Pleasanton to make Renewable 100 the 
default product for residential and commercial customers, except for those on discount 
programs, such as CARE/FERA and Medical baseline.   

WHEREAS on September 22, 2021, the Policy was implemented by the Board of 
Directors via Resolution 2021-42 to approve the San Leandro City Council’s request to 
make Renewable 100 the default product for residential and commercial customers, 
except for those on discount programs, such as CARE/FERA and Medical baseline. 



Attachment Consent Item 17A 

WHEREAS on April 20, 2022, the Policy was implemented by the Board of 
Directors via Resolution 2022-12 to approve the request by the Dublin City Council to 
make Renewable 100 the default product for commercial customers, and to approve the 
request by the Emeryville City Council to make Renewable 100 the default product for 
residential and commercial customers, except for those on discount programs, such as 
CARE/FERA and Medical baseline. 

WHEREAS in January of 2022, consistent with the Board’s direction and due to 
the closure of the Brilliant 100 product, Ava staff implemented the Policy by enrolling 
residential customers in the City of Dublin, and residential and commercial customers in 
the cities of Albany, Hayward, and Pleasanton in Renewable 100, as the new, citywide 
default product.  

WHEREAS in March of 2022, consistent with the Board’s direction, Ava staff 
implemented the Policy by enrolling residential customers in the cities of Berkeley and 
San Leandro in Renewable 100, as the new, citywide default product. 

WHEREAS in October of 2022, consistent with the Board’s direction, Ava staff 
implemented the Policy by enrolling commercial customers in the cities of Berkeley, 
Dublin, and San Leandro; and residential and commercial customers in the City of 
Emeryville in Renewable 100, as the new, citywide default product.  

WHEREAS changes to JPA members’ default rate products can have a fiscal 
impact on Ava, due to the need for additional renewable energy procurement, customer 
notification requirements, and other operational adjustments. 
 WHEREAS in consultation with the Board and Community Advisory Committee, 
staff has identified adjustments to the Policy, which can help create a more efficient, 
cost-effective, and customer-oriented process for Board consideration and staff 
implementation of future JPA member requests to change the default rate product within 
their jurisdictions;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF AVA COMMUNITY 
ENERGY AUTHORITY DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The Board of Directors hereby approves amendments to the Default 
Rate Product Change Policy (attached hereto as Exhibit A), which identify May 31 as 
the annual date by which Board approval must be given to JPA member requests under 
the Policy; and March of the following year as the month in which staff implements the 
corresponding, jurisdiction-wide customer account enrollments.  

Section 2. This resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 

 

 



Attachment Consent Item 17A 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 20th day of March 2024.  

     

             

     Jack Balch, Chair 

ATTEST: 

 

      

Adrian Bankhead, Clerk of the Board 



Attachment Consent Item 17B 
 
 

 

 
EAST BAY COMMUNITY ENERGY 

DEFAULT RATE PRODUCT CHANGE POLICY 
 

The purpose of this Default Rate Product Change Policy is to specify a process for a 
Joint Powers Authority (JPA) member agency (“Member”) to change its Default Rate 
Product1 and to ensure that East Bay Community Energy (EBCE) is provided with 
sufficient notice and time to prepare for the change.  
 
When approving a request from a Member to change the Default Rate Product 
(“Default Rate Product Change”) after the Member’s initial service enrollment, the 
EBCE Board (“Board”) and Member shall adhere to this Policy, which requires specific 
cooperation from the Member. This Policy shall not apply to a change in the Default 
Rate Product which is the result of a rate product closure.  
 
Under this Policy, the Default Rate Product Change request from a Member and 
subsequent implementation must comply with the following requirements: 
 

1. Timeline for Board Approval and Implementation: Any request for a Default 
Rate Product Change must be approved by the Board. The Board will consider 
Members’ requests for Default Rate Product changes in the spring and the fall, 
based on the following schedule:  

a. If the Board approves a Member’s request for a Default Rate Product 
Change by April 30 the Default Rate Change will be implemented in 
October of the same year.  

b. If the Board approves a Member’s request for a Default Rate Change by 
September 30, the Default Rate Change will be implemented in March of 
the following year. 

c. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the EBCE Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) 
and the Member may mutually agree upon a different implementation 
schedule, provided that the CEO provides the Board with notification of 
the agreed-upon schedule. 

 
Board Approval By Implementation By 
April 30 of Year A October 31 of Year A 
September 30 of Year A March 31 of Year A+1 

 
2. Exceptions to Implementation of Default Rate Product Change: 

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Policy, in no event shall a Member’s 
Board-approved Default Rate Product Change affect the following:  

 
1 For purposes of this Policy, the “Default Rate Product” is the EBCE rate product 
option that each Member selected as the default for EBCE customers within the 
Member’s jurisdiction.  



Attachment Consent Item 17B 
 
 

 

a. Prior customer enrollment actions. Any customer account that has 
affirmatively taken action to change its rate product will remain on the 
selected product.  

b. Prior customer opt-out actions. Any customer account that has 
affirmatively taken action to opt out of EBCE service will remain opted 
out.  

 
3. Frequency of Default Rate Product Change by a Member:  A Member may not 

change its Default Rate Product more than one (1) time every two (2) years.  
 

4. EBCE Agency Requirements: Upon the Board’s approval of a Member’s request 
for a Default Rate Product Change, EBCE staff may engage in any of the 
following activities:  

a. Purchase or prepare to purchase the appropriate amount of resources to 
meet the expected change in demand associated with the Default Rate 
Product Change; 

b. Complete or prepare to complete additional regulatory compliance and 
reporting requirements, if any; 

c. Coordinate with EBCE’s data and call center services manager to make 
necessary operational adjustments;  

d. Evaluate fiscal impacts of the Default Rate Product Change;  
e. Examine EBCE rates and any rate impacts;  
f. Coordinate and work with PG&E on billing considerations, if any;  
g. Prepare for and deploy customer communication efforts;  
h. Identify and address any other operational impacts or issues and take 

steps to mitigate those impacts/issues; or,  
i. Take any other action necessary to effectuate the Member’s approved 

Default Rate Product Change. 
 

5. Member Requirements: The Member requesting a Default Rate Product Change 
must commit to the following conditions for the change to be implemented: 

a. Collaboration. The Member shall work with EBCE staff to develop and 
implement a customer communication plan; 

b. Co-Branding. The Member must agree to co-brand customer notifications 
with the Member’s seal; and, 

c. Cost Coverage. EBCE will cover the cost of any operational adjustments 
and the required customer notices, as detailed in Section 6.a, for the 
Member’s first approved Default Rate Product Change. Costs associated 
with any subsequent Default Rate Product Changes will be charged to 
the Member. 

 
6. Customer Communication: EBCE will notify customers subject to a Member’s 

approved Default Rate Product Change. EBCE will lead, with support from the 
Member, the development and dissemination of customer notices.  

a. Required Notifications. Any customer accounts subject to a Member’s 
approved Default Rate Product Change shall be sent a minimum of two 



Attachment Consent Item 17B 
 
 

 

(2) notifications. A minimum of one (1) notice shall be sent prior to the 
change going into effect. 

b. Optional Additional Notifications. In addition to the two (2) required 
notices referenced in Section 6.a., above, EBCE staff will coordinate 
with a Member who wishes to develop and distribute additional customer 
notices and/or conduct additional communications such as social media 
campaigns, jurisdictional newsletters, Member press release, etc. The 
Member shall be responsible for the costs of such additional 
communications.   

 
7. A customer may take an enrollment action to change their EBCE rate product, 

to opt in to EBCE service, or to opt out of EBCE service at any time by notifying 
EBCE through the standard channels of phone, interactive voice recording, or 
online form. 

 



Attachment ConsentStaff Report Item 17C13BXX6B 
 
 

 

Formatted: Highlight

 
EAST BAYAva COMMUNITY ENERGY 

DEFAULT RATE PRODUCT CHANGE POLICY 
 

The purpose of this Default Rate Product Change Policy is to specify a process for a 
Joint Powers Authority (JPA) member agency (“Member”) to change its Default Rate 
Product1 and to ensure that East BayAva Community Energy (EBCEAVAAva) is 
provided with sufficient notice and time to prepare for the change.  
 
When approving a request from a Member to change the Default Rate Product (“Default 
Rate Product Change”) after the Member’s initial service enrollment, the EBCEAva 
Board (“Board”) and Member shall adhere to this Policy, which requires specific 
cooperation from the Member. This Policy shall not apply to a change in the Default 
Rate Product which is the result of a rate product closure.  
 
Under this Policy, the Default Rate Product Change request from a Member and 
subsequent implementation must comply with the following requirements: 
 

1. Timeline for Board Approval and Implementation: Any request for a Default 
Rate Product Change must be approved by the Board. The Board will consider 
Members’ requests for Default Rate Product changes in the spring and the fall, 
based on the following schedule:  

a. If the Board approves a Member’s request for a Default Rate Product 
Change by April 30May 31 the Default Rate Change will be implemented 
in October of the sameby [January 31 OR March 31] of the following year.  

b. If the Board approves a Member’s request for a Default Rate Change by 
September 30, the Default Rate Change will be implemented in March of 
the following year. 

c.b. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the EBCEAva Chief Executive 
Officer (“CEO”) and the Member may mutually agree upon a different 
implementation schedule, provided that the CEO provides the Board with 
notification of the agreed-upon schedule. 

 
Board Approval By Implementation ByMonth 
April 30May 31 of Year A October 31January or 

March  of Year A+1 
September 30 of Year A March 31 of Year A+1 

 
2. Exceptions to Implementation of Default Rate Product Change: 

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Policy, in no event shall a Member’s 
Board-approved Default Rate Product Change affect the following:  

 
1 For purposes of this Policy, the “Default Rate Product” is the EBCEAVA rate product 
option that each Member selected as the default for EBCEAVA customers within the 
Member’s jurisdiction.  

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Georgia

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Commented [AD1]: Executive Committee feedback 
included a request for clarification that Implementation 
would occur during a single billing month 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: Arial



Attachment ConsentStaff Report Item 17C13BXX6B 
 
 

 

Formatted: Highlight

a. Prior customer enrollment actions. Any customer account that has 
affirmatively taken action to change its rate product will remain on the 
selected product.  

b. Prior customer opt-out actions. Any customer account that has 
affirmatively taken action to opt out of EBCEAva service will remain opted 
out.  

 
3. Frequency of Default Rate Product Change by a Member:  A Member may 

not change its Default Rate Product more than one (1) time every two (2) years.  
 

4. EBCEAva Agency Requirements: Upon the Board’s approval of a Member’s 
request for a Default Rate Product Change, EBCEAva staff may engage in any of 
the following activities:  

a. Purchase or prepare to purchase the appropriate amount of resources to 
meet the expected change in demand associated with the Default Rate 
Product Change; 

b. Complete or prepare to complete additional regulatory compliance and 
reporting requirements, if any; 

c. Coordinate with EBCEAva’s data and call center services manager to 
make necessary operational adjustments;  

d. Evaluate fiscal impacts of the Default Rate Product Change;  
e. Examine EBCEAva rates and any rate impacts;  
f. Coordinate and work with PG&E on billing considerations, if any;  
g. Prepare for and deploy customer communication efforts;  
h. Identify and address any other operational impacts or issues and take 

steps to mitigate those impacts/issues; or,  
i. Take any other action necessary to effectuate the Member’s approved 

Default Rate Product Change. 
 

5. Member Requirements: The Member requesting a Default Rate Product 
Change must commit to the following conditions for the change to be 
implemented: 

a. Collaboration. The Member shall work with EBCEAva staff to develop and 
implement a customer communication plan; 

b. Co-Branding. The Member must agree to co-brand customer notifications 
with the Member’s seal; and, 

c. Cost Coverage. EBCEAva will cover the cost of any operational 
adjustments and the required customer notices, as detailed in Section 6.a, 
for the Member’s first approved Default Rate Product Change. Costs 
associated with any subsequent Default Rate Product Changes will be 
charged to the Member. 

 
6. Customer Communication: EBCEAva will notify customers subject to a 

Member’s approved Default Rate Product Change. EBCEAva will lead, with 
support from the Member, the development and dissemination of customer 
notices.  

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Font: Arial



Attachment ConsentStaff Report Item 17C13BXX6B 
 
 

 

Formatted: Highlight

a. Required Notifications. Any customer accounts subject to a Member’s 
approved Default Rate Product Change shall be sent a minimum of two 
(2) notifications. A minimum of one (1) notice shall be sent prior to the 
change going into effect. 

b. Optional Additional Notifications. In addition to the two (2) required notices 
referenced in Section 6.a., above, EBCEAva staff will coordinate with a 
Member who wishes to develop and distribute additional customer notices 
and/or conduct additional communications such as social media 
campaigns, jurisdictional newsletters, Member press release, etc. The 
Member shall be responsible for the costs of such additional 
communications.   

 
7. A customer may take an enrollment action to change their EBCEAva rate 

product, to opt in to EBCEAva service, or to opt out of EBCEAva service at any 
time by notifying EBCEAva through the standard channels of phone, interactive 
voice recording, or online form. 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Font: Arial



Proposed Amendments: 

Default Rate Product Change Policy 

March 20, 2024

Attachment Consent Item 17D



Ava’s Default Rate Product Change Policy

2

Aka - Renewable 100 Citywide Opt Up Policy 

Purpose: To provide a process by which member-jurisdictions of Ava’s Joint Powers 

Authority (JPA) can request to change their default rate product (e.g., from Bright Choice to 

Renewable 100); and to ensure Ava has sufficient time to prepare for and implement the 

change. 

Jurisdictions that have implemented the policy (to date): Albany, Berkeley, Dublin, Emeryville, 

Hayward, Pleasanton, San Leandro

Attachment Consent Item 17D

https://ebce.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/EXHtdvWW1adBkbxot6V1AsMBOjLDTvUZ7sS-37eUBP5OBg?e=09YbSq


Default Rate Product Change Policy

3

Current policy provides two options/timelines for Board approval + implementation

1. Approval: By April 30 → Implementation: By Oct 31

2. Approval: By Sept 30 → Implementation: By March 31 (of following year)

Board Approval By Implementation By

April 30 of Year A October 31 of Year A

September 30 of Year A March 31 of Year A+1

Attachment Consent Item 17D



Default Rate Product Change Policy

4

Proposed amended policy provides one option/timeline for Board approval + implementation

1. Approval: By May 31 → Implementation: March of following year (by account meter-read date)

Ava Board Approval By Implementation 

May 31 of Year A March of Year A + 1 

September 30 of Year A March 31 of Year A+1

Attachment Consent Item 17D



3/18/24, 12:36 PM Ava Community Energy Mail - Item 24 - Ava Community Energy Investment Policy (March 30, 2024)

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=703fa6ea73&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f:1793886944053603381&simpl=msg-f:1793886944053603381 1/1

Adrian Bankhead <abankhead@avaenergy.org>

Item 24 - Ava Community Energy Investment Policy (March 30, 2024)
Tom Kelly <tkelly@kyotousa.org> Mon, Mar 18, 2024 at 10:45 AM
To: Adrian Bankhead <abankhead@ebce.org>

Dear Adrian,

Please distribute to the Ava Board and CAC. Thank you.

Tom Kelly
************************************************************************************************************************
*******************************************

Dear AVA Community Energy Board Members and Community Advisory Committee Members:

We are pleased to see that AVA Community Energy is considering investing a portion of its substantial reserve funds in
Socially Responsible Investments (SRI). We would like to point out, however, that the staff report includes the following
statement:
Staff has also added a section on Socially Responsible Investing (SRI) prohibiting Ava from investing in any corporate
instrument originating from any company whose primary business (emphasis added) involves one or more of the following
activities:
* Fossil fuel extraction, refining, and distribution
* Tobacco manufacturing and production
* Firearms manufacturing or distribution

The staff memo does not, in our view, correctly describe Socially Responsible Investing. Please consider a more accurate
and expansive definition offered by Investopedia:

Socially responsible investing<https://www.investopedia.com/socially-responsible-investing-4689738> goes one step
further than ESG (Environmental, Social, Governance) by eliminating or adding investments based solely on a specific
ethical consideration. For example, an investor might opt to avoid any mutual fund or exchange traded fund (ETF)
<https://www.investopedia.com/terms/e/etf.asp> that owns the stocks of firearms manufacturers<https://www.
investopedia.com/news/how-one-etf-issuer-dealing-firearms-makers/>. Alternatively, an investor might seek to allocate a
fixed proportion of their portfolio to companies that donate a high proportion of their profits to charitable causes.

Socially responsible investors might also avoid companies associated with:

  *   Alcohol, tobacco, and other addictive substances
  *   Gambling
  *   Weapons production
  *   Human rights and labor violations
  *   Environmental damage

We encourage you to follow the guidelines for SRI as described by Investopedia and avoid any investments in
companies, banks, bonds, stocks, etc. that are involved in any business (primary or otherwise) related to the criteria for
SRI described above.

Thank you.

Tom and Jane Kelly
Berkeley

winmail.dat
24K

https://www.investopedia.com/socially-responsible-investing-4689738
https://www.investopedia.com/socially-responsible-investing-4689738
https://www.investopedia.com/socially-responsible-investing-4689738
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/e/etf.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/e/etf.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/e/etf.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/news/how-one-etf-issuer-dealing-firearms-makers/
https://www.investopedia.com/news/how-one-etf-issuer-dealing-firearms-makers/
https://www.investopedia.com/news/how-one-etf-issuer-dealing-firearms-makers/
https://www.investopedia.com/news/how-one-etf-issuer-dealing-firearms-makers/
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=703fa6ea73&view=att&th=18e52aabd386ac35&attid=0.1&disp=attd&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=703fa6ea73&view=att&th=18e52aabd386ac35&attid=0.1&disp=attd&safe=1&zw


3/19/24, 10:37 AM Ava Community Energy Mail - Re: Wrong email address for JP: Thank you and apologies

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=703fa6ea73&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-a:r6578304641899387203&dsqt=1&simpl=msg-a:r65783046… 1/1

Adrian Bankhead <abankhead@avaenergy.org>

Re: Wrong email address for JP: Thank you and apologies
Adrian Bankhead <abankhead@avaenergy.org> Tue, Mar 19, 2024 at 10:37 AM
To: Adrian Bankhead <abankhead@avaenergy.org>

On Tue, Mar 19, 2024 at 9:56 AM Susan Silber <susansilber07@gmail.com> wrote:
Thank you so much for the robust conversation about resilience hubs last night. I wanted to
apologize for not mentioning that Ava Community Energy is a sponsor of our upcoming
resilience hub workshop series. We are very thankful to have Ava Community Energy as a
sponsor and look forward to the participation of staff members. 

If there is any way to add this sponsorship acknowledgment and gratitude to the meeting
notes, that would be much appreciated.

I look forward to more conversations about this important topic and again my apologies.
best,
Susan Silber

Susan Silber 
supporting resilience sites -  hubs, spaces and neighborhoods  - to evolve and flourish
Project Director: www.collectiveresiliencenow.org
Consultant: www.plantingseedsconsulting.com
Calendly appointment link 

mailto:susansilber07@gmail.com
https://info.thrivealliance.org/resilience-hub-series
http://www.collectiveresiliencenow.org/
http://www.collectiveresiliencenow.org/
http://www.plantingseedsconsulting.com/
http://www.plantingseedsconsulting.com/
https://calendly.com/plantingseedsconsulting/consultant-meeting?month=2022-11

	C1. Item C1 - CAC_Agenda - 031824v1
	C3. Item C3 - CAC_Minutes - 022024
	C5. Ava Resilience Hubs Definition Discussion (CAC Informational Item)
	Ava Resilience Hub March CAC
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9

	Results from Meeting Survey (1)
	Feedback on Resiliency Hubs (Responses)
	Feedback on Resiliency Hubs (Responses)tab2

	C6. CAC Appointments (CAC Action Item)
	12. Consent Item 12 - Memo_2024 CAC Member Appointments_Final
	12. Consent Item 12A - Reso_2024 CAC Appointment_Final

	C7. Legislative Update (CAC Informational Item)
	13. Consent Item 13 - Memo - Legislative Update
	13A. Consent Item 13A - Presentation - Legislative Update Board
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6


	C8. Load Management Standards (LMS) Compliance Plan (CAC Action Item)
	21. Item 21 - Memo - LMS Compliance Plan
	21A. Item 21A - Reso - LMS Compliance Plan
	Attachment A
	21B. Item 21B - Reso - Attachment A - LMS Compliance Plan

	C9. Default Product Change Policy Update (CAC Action Item)
	17. Consent Item 17 - Memo - Default Rate Product Change Policy Amendments - FINAL
	17A. Consent Item 17A - Reso - Default Rate Product Change Policy Amendments - FINAL
	17B. Consent Item 17B - Ava Default Rate Product Change Policy - CURRENT POLICY
	17C. Consent Item 17C - Ava Default Rate Product Change Policy - DRAFT amendment V3
	17D. Consent Item 17D - Proposed Amendments_ Default Rate Product Change Policy
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4


	Public Comment 1 - Tom Kelly - Ava Community Energy Mail - Item 24 - Ava Community Energy Investment Policy (March 30, 2024)
	Public Comment 2 - Susan Silber public comment



